The Banach-Mazur Game: History and Recent Developments^{*}

Julian P. Revalski

Institute of Mathematics and Informatics Bulgarian Academy of Sciences

> October 2003–March 2004 Pointe-à-Pitre, Guadeloupe, France

^{*}These notes represent the content of a series of seminars given by the author in the Universié des Antilles et de la Guyane, Guadeloupe, France, in the framework of a Marie Curie Individual Fellowship of the European Commission, Contract HPMF-CT-2002-01874

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	The Banach-Mazur Game	3
3	Preliminary facts about set-valued mappings	7
4	Main selection theorems	11
5	Sufficient conditions for the existence of residually defined selections of set-valued mappings	16
6	Some applications to the geometry of Banach spaces	24
7	Applications to best approximation theory	26
8	The Banach-Mazur game and optimization problems	28
9	The solution mapping in $C(X)$	31
10	Winning strategies in the Banach-Mazur game and generic existence of solutions	34
11	Strengthened strategies in the Banach-Mazur game and generic well-posedness	37

1 Introduction

Let X and Y be (everywhere at least Hausdorff) topological spaces and $F: X \to Y$ be a set-valued (equivalently multivalued) mapping between them. In the subsequent sections we will be interested in conditions which assure the existence of a continuous selection of F which is defined on a big enough part of the domain space X.

More precisely, recall that a subset A of X is called *residual* in X if its complement in X is of the first Baire category in X, i.e. $X \setminus A$ can be represented as a countable union of sets whose closures in X are nowhere dense in X. The space X is said to be a *Baire space* if the intersection of every countable family of open and dense subsets of X is dense in X. Among the known examples of Baire spaces are complete metric spaces, (locally) compact topological spaces and Čech complete spaces. We will freely use also the fact that any open set of a Baire space is again a Baire space. More generally, any dense G_{δ} -subspace of a Baire space is also a Baire one. Finally, if Y is a topological space which contains a dense Baire subspace is a Baire space as well. Therefore, if the space X is Baire and A is its residual subset, then A contains a dense G_{δ} -subset of X and is considered to be a big subset of X from topological point of view. In other words, the residual subsets in X contain most of the points of X. A property which is fulfilled at the points of a residual subset of some Baire space X is called a *generic property*.

Comming back to our main goal, it can be precisely formulated as follows: given a set-valued mapping $F: X \to Y$ acting from the Baire space X into Y, can we find conditions under which there exist a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X and a single-valued continuous mapping $f: X_1 \to Y$ so that $f(x) \in F(x)$ for every $x \in X_1$. The latter means that f is a *selection* of F on the set X_1 . We will investigate also the cases when the selection f is not necessarily a single-valued mapping, as well as situations when the mapping F coincides with its selection.

Our approach to obtain the above results involves the well-known Banach-Mazur game. We will see that the existence of selections as above is closely related to the existence of (special type of) winning strategies for one of the players in this game. Therefore, in the next section h we introduce this game, then we formulate and prove the main results (Theorem 4.3 and Theorem 4.5). We then apply the selection theorems to get various results in different branches like geometry of Banach spaces, best approximation theory etc. Other applications of these theorems to optimization will be given in the Sections 10-11.

2 The Banach-Mazur Game

The Banach-Mazur game appeared for the first time in the famous Scottish Book. This book which has an exciting and interesting story (see [U,MO] for details and other problems) was created in the period 1935-1941 in the town of Lwów which at that time was in Poland. A group of mathematicians, working at the University of Lwów, consisted of people whose names later became well-known, like St. Banach, S. Mazur, S. Ulam, H. Steinhaus and others. This group frequently used to discuss informally mathematical problems in one of the nearby caffés–The Scotish Caffé House (from where the book took its name). Following an idea of St. Banach a large notebook was bought and hidden by the waiter. Each time an intersting problem (or its solution) appeared in the discussion the waiter was asked to bring out the notebook in order to write down the problem (or the solution) and then to return it at the secret place. Many of the problems were accompanied by prizes-from a bottle of beer to a bottle of wine. It was the time when Functional Analysis and related mathematical fields were born and the book contains a number of interesting initial problems which later received their solution. Fortunately, the book survived the Second World War and was published for the first time by S. Ulam in 1957 in Los Alamos, USA. Later it had another edition as well as there was a conference devoted to it ([U, Mau]).

In the Scottish Book under problem No.43 appeared the following problem posed by Mazur: There are two players (Mazur denoted them by A and B) and a nonempty subset E of the real numbers \mathbb{R} . The game is defined as follows: A selects first a non-empty interval d_1 , then B selects a non-empty sub-interval d_2 of d_1 . Further, A continues by selecting a non-empty sub-interval d_3 of d_2 and B responds by choosing a non-empty sub-interval d_4 and so on. A wins if the intersection of all intervals d_1, d_2, \ldots has a common point with E. Otherwise B wins. Mazur had observed the following: if the complement of E is of the first Baire category in some interval, then the player A has a rule with which it will win. If the set E itself is of the first Baire category in \mathbb{R} then the player B has a winning rule in this game. The question posed by Mazur (with prize a bottle of wine!) was whether these two conditions are also necessary for the players A and B to win correspondingly. The answer was given on August 4, 1935 by St. Banach and was affirmative. But a proof by Banach never appeared. Later this game took the names of Banach and Mazur and it seems it is the first infinite positional game with perfect information.

A proof of this result was announced in 1956 by Mycelski et all [MySwZi], but the proof was not published. In 1957 the proof of a (much) more general result was given by J. Oxtoby in [Ox]. He considered the following general setting containing as a partial case the above game: there are given a topological space X, a subset $E \subset X$ of it and a family \mathcal{W} of subsets of X with the following properties: (i) each $\mathcal{W} \in \mathcal{W}$ contains a non-empty open subset of X; and (ii) each non-empty open subset of X contains an element of \mathcal{W} . Two players, Player I and Player II, choose alternatively elements from $\mathcal{W} U_1 \supset U_2 \supset U_3 \supset \cdots$ (the choices of Player I are the sets with odd indexes and those of Player II, the sets with even indexes). Player I wins if the intersection $E \cap (\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} U_i)$ is not empty. Otherwise Player II wins. Oxtoby showed that: Player II has a winning rule in this game (see below the precise definitions of a winning strategy) if and only if the set E is of the first Baire category in X; moreover, if X is supposed to be a complete metric space then Player I has a winning rule in the game if and only if the set E has a complement which is of the first Baire category in some open subset of X.

Further generalizations and variants of this game (and discussion on many other topological games) as well as more details can be found in the excellent survey paper of Telgársky [Tel] (see also the book of Choquet [Ch2]). We will concentrate ourselves on the following, probably most known, modification of the Banach-Mazur game. In the above scheme we take E = X and the family \mathcal{W} consists of all nonempty open sets in X. Two players, who from now on we will designate by the commonly accepted notation α and β , play a game in the following way: β chooses first a non-empty open subset U_1 of X. Then α chooses a non-empty open set $V_1 \subset U_1$. Further, β chooses again a non-empty open subset $U_2 \subset V_1$ and again α selects a non-void open subset of the set chosen by β . The so obtained sequence of non-empty open sets $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \supset U_n \supset V_n \supset \cdots$ is called *a play*. The player α wins this play if $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} U_i = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} V_i \neq \emptyset$. Otherwise β wins. This game is usually denoted by BM(X).

A partial play in the above game is any finite sequence of non-empty open sets of the type $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \supset W$, where either $W = U_n$ or $W = V_{n-1}$ (or $W = V_n$), $n \ge 1$, representing the first n legal moves of the player β and the first n-1 (or n) moves of the player α .

A strategy s for the player α is called every rule (or a mapping) which assigns to each partial play $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \supset V_{n-1} \supset U_n$, $n \ge 1$, a non-empty open set $V_n = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, V_{n-1}, U_n) \subset U_n$. When α makes his/her choice with the help of the strategy s we call the resulting play an s-play (i.e. $V_i = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, V_{i-1}, U_i) \subset U_i$ for every i). The strategy s is called winning for the player α (equivalently α winning) if for every s-play $p = \{U_i, V_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ the target set $T(p) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} U_i = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} V_i$ is not empty. Similarly one defines a strategy (and winning strategy) for the player β in this game. Given a strategy s, by T_s we will denote the target space generated by this strategy, i.e. the set $T_s := \bigcup \{T(p) : p \text{ is an s-play in the game } BM(X)\}.$

Let us stress the fact that in the above definition of a strategy, the choice of the corresponding player at step n depends on all choices preceding this step. Of course of interest are also the strategies which depend only on the last move of the opponent: a stationary strategy (called also tactics) for the player α in the Banach-Mazur game BM(X) is a mapping t from the family of all non-empty open sets of X into the same family with the property $t(U) \subset U$ for every non-empty open set $U \subset X$. The stationary strategy, or α -winning tactics), if whenever one has a sequence of nonempty open sets $\{U_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ with the property $U_{i+1} \subset t(U_i)$ for every i, it follows that $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} U_i \neq \emptyset$. One defines analogously the notion of a stationary strategy (tactics) for the player β in BM(X).

Of course every (winning) stationary strategy is also (winning) strategy for the same player. The converse is true if the player β is concerned, but not for the player α . Namely, (see Galvin and Telgársky [GaTel], Corollary 1'): The player β has a stationary winning strategy in the game B(X) if, and only if, it has a winning strategy in BM(X). The same assertion for the player α is not true in general: G. Debs has constructed in [De] a completely regular topological space which admits an α -winning strategy in the game BM(X) but which does not admit any α -winning stationary strategy in the same game.

Sometimes the topological spaces X which admit α -winning strategy in the game BM(X) are called *weakly* α -favorable, and those which admit α -winning tactics- α -favorable (cf. [Tel, Wh]. An obvious example of a α -favorable space is any compact topological space X: given a non-empty open subset U of X the image of the tactis is defined to be any fixed open subset V of U which is included in U together with its closure. It is clear also that every complete metric space X is α -favorable: the

definition of the α -winning tactics in this case is also easy: given a non-empty open set $U \subset X$, define t(U) as a non-empty open ball so that the closure of t(U) is a subset of U and its diameter is strictly less than one half the diameter of U. It is easily verified that the so defined t is a winning tactics for the player α in BM(X). We will give Sections 10-11 characterizations of the weak α -favorability as well as characterizations of the α -favorability in the class of the metric spaces. Here we give a characterization of the absence of a winning strategy for the second player in BM(X).

Theorem 2.1 The topological space X is Baire space if and only if X does not admit a winning strategy for the player β in the game BM(X).

Proof: Let X be a Baire space and suppose that β possesses a winning strategy t in the game BM(X). Let U_1 be the first choice of β according to this strategy. We will show that U_1 is of the first Baire category, which will be a contradiction. Indeed, put $U_0 = V_0 := X$ and let $\gamma_1 := \{(U_1, V_0)\}$. Let $\{\gamma_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a family of couples of open sets which is maximal with respect to the following properties:

- (i) for every $n \ge 2$ and $(U_n, V_{n-1}) \in \gamma_n$ there is $(U_{n-1}, V_{n-2}) \in \gamma_{n-1}$ with $V_{n-1} \subset U_{n-1}$;
- (ii) for every n the family $\{U : (U, V) \in \gamma_n \text{ for some } V\}$ is paire-wise disjoint;
- (iii) for every $n \ge 2$ and $(U_n, V_{n-1}) \in \gamma_n$ there exists a (by (ii), uniquely determined) sequence of couples $(U_i, V_{i-1}) \in \gamma_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$, so that $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_{n-1}, V_{n-1})$ is a partial play in the game BM(X) and, moreover, $U_i := t(U_1, \ldots, V_{i-1})$ for every $i = 2, \ldots, n$.

Put $W_n := \bigcup \{U_n : (U_n, V_{n-1}) \in \gamma_n \text{ for some } V_{n-1}\}, n = 1, 2, \dots$ We will show that each W_n is dense in U_1 . For n = 1 this is clear. Let the assertion is true up to some $n \ge 1$ and suppose that W_{n+1} is not dense in U_1 . Then there is some nonempty open set $U_0 \subset U_1$ so that $U_0 \cap W_{n+1} = \emptyset$. On the other hand, $W_n \cap U_1 \ne \emptyset$ and hence, there is some couple $(U_n, V_{n-1}) \in \gamma_n$ with $U_n \cap U_0 \ne \emptyset$. By (iii) above, there is a sequence $(U_i, V_{i-1}) \in \gamma_i$ for $i = 1, \dots, n-1$, so that $(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_{n-1}, V_{n-1})$ is a partial play in the Banach-Mazur game and $U_n = t(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_{n-1}, V_{n-1})$. Set $V_n := U_n \cap U_0$ and let $U_{n+1} := t(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_n, V_n)$. Then the sequence of families $\{\gamma'_i\}$ where $\gamma'_i := \gamma_i$ for $i \ne n+1$ and $\gamma'_{n+1} := \gamma_{n+1} \cup \{(U_{n+1}, V_n)\}$ is stritcly larger than $\{\gamma_i\}$ and still satisfies (i)-(iii). The achieved contradiction shows that each W_n is dense in U_1 .

Now, we claim that $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} W_n = \emptyset$. Assume the contrary and take some $x \in W_n$ for every n = 1, 2... By (i)-(iii) above there is a (uniquely determined) sequence $(U_n, V_{n-1}) \in \gamma_n, n \ge 1$, so that $x \in U_n$ for each n and the sequence $\{(U_n, V_n)\}$ is a

play in the game BM(X) in which every choice of the player β is obtained by using the strategy t, i.e. $U_n = t(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_{n-1}, V_{n-1})$ for every $n \ge 1$. Then $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n = \emptyset$ contradiction the choice of x. Hence, $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} W_n = \emptyset$ and consequently (remember that every W_n was dense in U_1) the set U_1 is of the first Baire category. The proof of this implication is completed.

Conversely, let the space X do not admit a winning strategy for the player β in the game BM(X). Suppose that the space X is not Baire. This means that there is a non-empty open set U_1 which is of the first Baire category in X. I.e. there is a sequence $\{A_n\}$ of closed nowhere dense sets in X so that $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \supset U_1$. Define the following (stationary) strategy for the player β : for n = 1 the choice of β is U_1 ; for $n \ge 2$, given a non-empty open $V_n \subset U_1$ we put $t(V_n) := V_n \setminus A_n$. It is easily seen that the so constructed t is a winning (stationary) strategy for the player β in the game BM(X). This is a contradiction. Hence, the space X is a Baire space. The proof of the theorem is completed.

Topological spaces X which do not admit β -winning strategy in the game BM(X) are called β -defavorable.

3 Preliminary facts about set-valued mappings

Let F be a set-valued mapping acting between the topological spaces X and Y. First we introduce a piece of notation. Since we will consider mappings which may have also empty images, the symbol Dom(F) will denote, as usual, the *domain* of F, i.e. the set

$$Dom(F) := \{ x \in X \colon F(x) \neq \emptyset \}.$$

For $A \subset X$ its immage under F is the set $F(A) := \bigcup \{F(x) : x \in A\}$, and for $B \subset Y$ the two possible preimages of B under F are:

$$F^{-1}(B) := \{ x \in X \colon F(x) \bigcap B \neq \emptyset \}$$

and

$$F^{\#}(B) := \{ x \in X \colon F(x) \subset B \}.$$

Observe that $F^{\#}(B)$ contains each point $x \in X$ with $F(x) = \emptyset$. Let us mention also that $F^{-1}(Y) = \text{Dom}(F)$ and $F^{\#}(Y) = X$. Finally, the set

$$\operatorname{Gr}(F) := \{ (x, y) \in X \times Y : y \in F(x) \},\$$

is the graph of F,

Further, we recall some continuity-like properties of set-valued mappings. The mapping $F: X \to Y$ is called *upper* (resp. *lower*) semicontinuous at a point $x_0 \in X$ if for every open $V \subset Y$ with $F(x_0) \subset V$ (resp. $F(x_0) \cap V \neq \emptyset$) there is an open set

 $U \subset X$ with $x_0 \in U$ such that $F(x) \subset V$ (resp. $F(x) \cap V \neq \emptyset$) whenever $x \in U$. We abbreviate this by F is usc (resp. lsc) at x_0 . F is usc (resp. lsc) in X if it is usc (resp. lsc) at any point of X. Equivalently, F is usc (resp. lsc) in X if for every open $V \subset Y$ the set $F^{\#}(V)$ (resp. the set $F^{-1}(V)$) is open in X.

In what follows, most of our examples will involve mappings F with domain Dom(F) which is **dense** in the domain space X. The reason is obvious: if x_0 is a point outside the closure (in X) of Dom(F) then for some open set U of X containing x_0 we have $F(x) = \emptyset$ for every $x \in U$. I.e. F is use and lse at each such point. When we say the F is non-empty valued we mean that Dom(F) = X. Let us observe also that, if Dom(F) is dense in X and if F is use at some $x \in X$, then $F(x) \neq \emptyset$.

The mapping F is called *usco* in X (or at a point $x_0 \in X$) if it is use and compact-valued in X (or at x_0). For every useo mapping $F : X \to Y$ its grap $\operatorname{Gr}(F)$ is a closed subset of $X \times Y$ considered with the product topology. When $\operatorname{Gr}(F)$ is closed in $X \times Y$ we say that F has a *closed graph*. Sometimes the converse is also true: for instance, if $F : X \to Y$ has a closed graph and Y is compact then F is useo.

An usco $F: X \to Y$ is minimal if its graph does not contain properly the graph of any other usco $G: X \to Y$ with the same domain. Let us mention that every non-empty valued mapping $G: X \to Y$ with closed graph which is contained in an usco mapping $F: X \to Y$ (that is $G(x) \subset F(x)$ for every $x \in X$) is usco itself. Hence, by Kuratowski-Zorn lemma every usco mapping $F: X \to Y$ contains a minimal usco $G: X \to Y$.

We will go further by considering minimal elements in a larger class of mappings. Below, as usual, for a subset A of a topological space X, we designate by $\operatorname{Int}_X(A)$ and $\operatorname{Cl}_X(A)$ the interior and the closure of the set A in X. If there is no danger of confusion, we will omit the subscript X.

First, we give a relaxation of the notion of semicontinuity: a mapping $F : X \to Y$ is called *upper (resp. lower) quasicontinuous* at $x_0 \in X$ if for every open set V of Ywith $F(x_0) \subset V$ (resp. $F(x_0) \cap V \neq \emptyset$) there is an open set $U \subset X$ with $x_0 \in Cl(U)$ such that $F(x) \subset V$ (resp. $F(x) \cap \neq \emptyset$) whenever $x \in U$.

Given topological spaces X and Y we will consider the class QC(X, Y) of setvalued mappings $F: X \to Y$ which are upper quasicontinuous at any $x \in \text{Dom}(F)$ and, moreover, have closed graph. It is easily seen that, F is upper quasicontinuous at any $x \in \text{Dom}(F)$ if and only if for every open V in Y the set $\text{Int } F^{\#}(V)$ is dense in $F^{\#}(V) \cap \text{Dom}(F)$. Every usco $F: X \to Y$ (even every closed-valued usc $F: X \to Y$, with Y regular) is in the above class. Evidently, every mapping F from QC(X, Y) with Y compact, is usco in X.

We call, as above, a closed graph mapping $F: X \to Y$ which is upper quasicontinuous at any point of Dom (F), minimal if its graph is a minimal element, with respect to the set inclusion order in $X \times Y$, in the family of all graphs of mappings G from QC(X, Y) with Dom(G) = Dom(F).

Here we cannot claim that every $F \in QC(X, Y)$ contains a minimal one (of the same type) with the same domain because of lack of compactness of the images. But the minimal mappings from QC(X, Y) still share the basic properties of the minimal usco ones. The next proposition is well-known for minimal usco mappings.

Proposition 3.1 The following are equivalent for a closed graph mapping $F : X \to Y$ which is upper quasicontinuous at any point of Dom(F):

(a) F is minimal;

(b) for every open U in X and closed B in Y from $F(x) \cap B \neq \emptyset$ for every $x \in U \cap \text{Dom}(F)$, it follows that $F(U) \subset B$;

(c) if U and V are open subsets of X and Y such that $U \cap F^{-1}(V) \neq \emptyset$ then there is a non-empty open $U' \subset U$ with $F(U') \subset V$.

Proof: First of all observe that, without loss of generality, we may assume that Dom(F) is dense in X.

To prove (a) \Rightarrow (b), let $U \subset X$ be open and $B \subset Y$ be closed in Y such $F(x) \cap B \neq \emptyset$ for every $x \in U \cap \text{Dom}(F)$. We show that $F(U) \subset B$. Suppose that the set $A := \{x \in U : F(x) \setminus B \neq \emptyset\}$ is not empty and define $G : X \to Y$ by

$$G(x) = \begin{cases} F(x) & \text{if } x \in X \setminus U \\ F(x) \bigcap B & \text{if } x \in U. \end{cases}$$

By the assumptions Dom(G) = Dom(F). Moreover, since A is non-empty the graph of F is strictly larger than the graph of G. Therefore, to get a contradiction, it remains to show that G is with closed graph and upper quasicontinuous at any point of Dom(F).

First, it is easily verified that $\operatorname{Gr}(G) = \operatorname{Gr}(F) \setminus (U \times (Y \setminus B))$. Hence G has a closed graph.

Further, let $x_0 \in \text{Dom}(G) = \text{Dom}(F)$. If $x_0 \in U$ then $G(x_0) = F(x_0)$ and the upper quasicontinuity of G at x_0 follows by the upper quasicontinuty of F at x_0 . So suppose $x_0 \notin U$ and let $G(x_0) \subset V$ with V open in Y. Then $F(x_0) \subset$ $V' := V \cup (Y \setminus B)$ and since $Y \setminus B$ is open, there is some open subset W of X with $x_0 \in \text{Cl}(W)$ and $F(x) \subset V'$ for each $x \in W$. We may think that $W \subset U$ and then it is easily seen that $G(x) \subset V$ for any $x \in W$. Therefore, G is upper quasicontinuous at each $x \in \text{Dom}(G)$.

(b) \Rightarrow (c). Let $F: X \to Y$ be a mapping from the class QC(X, Y) satisfying (b), and U and V be open subsets of X and Y correspondingly such that $U \cap F^{-1}(V) \neq \emptyset$. Then, because of (b), there is at least one point $x_0 \in U \cap \text{Dom}(F)$ with $F(x_0) \subset V$. Since F is upper quasicontinuous at x_0 we have some nonempty open set U' of X (we may think $U' \subset U$) so that $F(U') \subset V$. This completes the proof of the implication. $(c) \Rightarrow (a).$ Let F satisfy (c). Suppose there are a mapping $G \in QC(X, Y)$ with Dom (G) = Dom(F) which is contained in F and $x_0 \in \text{Dom}(F)$ such that $F(x_0) \setminus G(x_0) \neq \emptyset$. Take $y_0 \in F(x_0) \setminus G(x_0)$. This means $(x_0, y_0) \notin \text{Gr}(G)$. Since Gr(G) is closed there are open sets U in X and V in Y with $x_0 \in U$ and $y_0 \in V$ such that $(U \times V) \cap \text{Gr}(G) = \emptyset$. On the other hand, $(x_0, y_0) \in \text{Gr}(F)$ giving $U \cap F^{-1}(V) \neq \emptyset$. By c) there is a non-empty open set $U' \subset U$ with $F(U') \subset V$. Since Dom(F) is dense in X we get $x \in U' \cap \text{Dom}(F)$ with $F(x) \subset V$. But Dom(F) = Dom(G), hence $\emptyset \neq G(x) \subset V$. This is a contradiction. The proof of this implication and the proposition is completed.

We mentioned above that each mapping $G: X \to Y$ which has a closed graph and is contained in an usco mapping $F: X \to Y$ is usco itself. Hence, the following is immediate.

Proposition 3.2 Every minimal usco mapping $F : X \to Y$ is minimal also in the class QC(X,Y) of closed graph mappings between X and Y which are upper quasicontinuous at any point of their domain.

We give some simple examples showing that the class of (minimal) mappings from QC(X, Y) is strictly larger than the class of (minimal) usco mappings. Recall that a mapping $F: X \to Y$ is called *open* if for every non-empty open set $U \subset X$ the set F(U) is (non-empty) and open in Y. Analogously, F is called *closed* if for every closed set $B \subset X$ the set F(B) is closed in Y.

Example 3.3 Let Y be a dense subspace of the space X. Consider the mapping $F: X \to Y$ defined by F(x) := x provided $x \in Y$ and $F(x) := \emptyset$ if $x \in X \setminus Y$. Obviously Dom (F) = Y. It is easily seen that the mapping F is from the class QC(X,Y) which is open, closed and minimal. F is usco iff X = Y. F is lsc iff the space Y is open in X.

Example 3.4 Let us consider a single-valued mapping $f: Y \to X$ from the topological space Y into the topological space X such that the set Z = f(X) is dense in X. Put $F(x) := f^{-1}(x)$ if $x \in Z$ and $F(x) := \emptyset$ if $x \in X \setminus Z$. Suppose f is continuous and closed with respect to the induced topology on f(X). Then the mapping F is open, closed and belongs to the class QC(X, Y). Moreover, if in addition f is *irreducible* (that means $f(B) \neq f(Y)$ whenever $B \subset Y$ is closed and $B \neq Y$) then F is minimal. The mapping F is usco iff Z = X and f is closed. Finally, F is lsc iff f is open and Z is open in X.

Example 3.5 Let $G : Z \to Y$ be a non-empty valued mapping and Z be dense in some topological space X. Define a mapping $F : X \to Y$ in a natural way: F(x) := G(x) provided $x \in Z$ and $F(x) := \emptyset$ otherwise. The mapping G is in the class QC(Z, Y) exactly when the mapping F is in the class QC(X, Y). G is minimal in QC(Z, Y) iff F is minimal in QC(X, Y).

4 Main selection theorems

In this section we formulate and then prove our main selection theorems. To start we need two notions. The first is a relation between a given set-valued mapping and a strategy in the range space.

Definition 4.1 Let X, Y be topological spaces, $F: X \to Y$ be a set-valued mapping, s be a strategy for the player α in the game BM(Y). We say that F and s are coordinated (resp. strictly coordinated) if for every partial s-play $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \supset$ $U_n \supset V_n$ (i.e. $V_i = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_i)$ for every $i = 1, \dots, n$) the set $\cup \{ \text{Int } \text{Cl } F^{-1}(V) :$ $V = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_n, V_n, U)$ for some non-empty open $U \subset V_n \}$ is dense in the set Int $\text{Cl } F^{-1}V_n$ (resp. $\cup \{ \text{Int } F^{-1}(V) : V = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_n, V_n, U) \}$ for some non-empty open $U \subset V_n \}$ covers the set $\text{Int } F^{-1}(V_n)$.

The second notion concerns special type of winning strategies for the player α in the game BM(Y). Let us remind that a nested sequence of open sets $\{U_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of a topological space Y is called *complete* if the intersection $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$ is non-empty and compact and the family $\{U_n\}_{i=n}^{\infty}$ is a base of neighborhoods for this intersection, i.e. for every open $U \supset \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$ there exists some m with $U_m \subset U$.

Definition 4.2 An α -winning strategy s in the game BM(Y) is said to be complete if for every s-play $p = \{U_i, V_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ the sequence $\{U_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ (as well as the sequence $\{V_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$) is complete.

In the next section we will give rather general sufficient conditions for given F and s to be coordinated, as well as for the existence of complete winning strategies. Here we continue by intruducing two mappings which are extensions to a set-valued mapping $F: X \to Y$. Namely, given such an F, let $F^*: X \to Y$ and $\overline{F}: X \to Y$ be differed as follows:

$$F^*(x) = \bigcap \{ \operatorname{Cl} F(W) : W \text{ open in } X, x \in W \}, \ x \in X,$$

and

$$\overline{F}(x) = \operatorname{Cl} F(x), \quad x \in X.$$

It is well-known that the mapping F^* has a closed graph, and that the graph of F is closed if, and only if, $F(x) = F^*(x)$ for every $x \in X$. On the other hand, it is evident that $\text{Dom}(F) = \text{Dom}(\bar{F})$ and that $F(x) = \bar{F}(x)$ for each $x \in X$ if and only the mapping F has closed images.

We are ready to give our first selection theorem:

Theorem 4.3 Let X be a Baire space and Y be a topological space with a complete α -winning strategy s and a target space T_s . Suppose $F : X \to Y$ is a set-valued

map so that Dom(F) is dense in X and F is coordinated with s. Then there exist a dense G_{δ} -subset $X_1 \subset X$ and a non-empty valued usco map $G : X_1 \to T_s \subset Y$ which is a selection of F^* (i.e. for every $x \in X_1$ we have $G(x) \subset F^*(x)$). In particular, if F itself has a closed graph then $X_1 \subset \text{Dom}(F)$ and G is am usco selection of F on X_1 .

If the complete strategy s is such that for every s-play $p = \{U_i, V_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ the target set $T(p) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} U_i$ is a singleton, then the mapping G is single-valued and continuous at each point of X_1 . Moreover, if F is non-empty valued and F and s are strictly coordinated then G is a single-valued selection also of \overline{F} .

Before proving this theorem we will formulate our second selection theorem. It is concerned with the case when the given mapping F coincide with its selection. For this we need another relation between the mapping and the complete strategy.

Definition 4.4 We say that the mapping $F : X \to Y$ and the strategy s in Y are strongly coordinated if for every partial s-play $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \supset U_n \supset V_n$ the set $\cup \{ \operatorname{Int} F^{\#}V : V = s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n, U) \text{ for some non-empty open } U \subset V_n \}$ is dense in the set $\operatorname{Int} F^{\#}V_n$.

Now we have our second selection theorem:

Theorem 4.5 Let X be a Baire space, Y be a regular topological space with a complete α -winning strategy s and a target space T_s . Let $F : X \to Y$ be a set-valued map such that Dom(F) is dense in X and F is strongly coordinated with s. Then there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset $X_1 \subset X$ such that the restriction of F^* on X_1 is an usco mapping from X_1 into T_s . In particular, if F has a closed graph, then the restriction $F|X_1$ is an usco mapping from X_1 into T_s .

If the complete strategy s is such that for every s-play $p = \{U_i, V_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ the target set $T(p) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} U_i$ is a singleton, then the mapping F^* (and hence, in case F has a closed graph, the mapping F) is single-valued and upper semicontinuous at each point of X_1 . Moreover, in this last case if in addition F is non-empty valued then \overline{F} (and hence, in case F has closed images, the mapping F) is single-valued and upper semicontinuous at each point of X_1 .

Let us prove now our selection theorems. We will first establish a lemma which is a key point in the proofs. In the sequel, given a set-valued map $F: X \to Y$, under an *admissible pair* (resp. *strictly admissible*) we mean a couple (W, V) of nonempty open subsets of X and Y, respectively, such that $F^{-1}V$ is dense in W (resp. $W \subset F^{-1}(V)$).

Lemma 4.6 In the assumptions of Theorem 4.3, let $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n)$ be a partial s-play and W_n be a non-empty open subset of X such that (W_n, V_n) is an admissible

pair. Suppose further that $\Gamma(W_n) = \{(W, U, V)\}$ is a maximal system of triples such that:

(i) U is a non-empty open subset of V_n ;

(ii) $V = s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n, U)$ (i.e. (U, V) is a continuation of the partial play $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n)$;

(iii) (W, V) is an admissible pair, so that $W \subset W_n$;

(iv) $\gamma(W_n) := \{W : (W, U, V) \in \Gamma(W_n)\}$ is a pairwise disjoint system of open subsets of W_n .

Then the set $H(W_n) := \bigcup \{W : W \in \gamma(W_n)\}$ is dense in W_n .

If, F is non-empty valued and F and s are strictly coordinated, then all admissible couples above can be taken strictly admissible.

Proof: Suppose the contrary and take some non-empty open $W' \,\subset W_n \setminus \operatorname{Cl} H(W_n)$. Since F and s are coordinated and (W_n, V_n) is an admissible pair (i.e. $W_n \subset \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V_n)$) there exists some continuation (U_{n+1}, V_{n+1}) of the partial s-play $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n)$ such that $W := W' \cap \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V_{n+1}) \neq \emptyset$. Evidently, (W, V_{n+1}) is an admissible pair for which the triple (W, U_{n+1}, V_{n+1}) does not belong to $\Gamma(W_n)$. On the other hand, $\Gamma(W_n)$ together with the latter triple is a system which satisfies (i)-(iv). This contradicts the maximality of the system $\Gamma(W_n)$. Observe that if the couple (W_n, U_n) above was strictly admissible and F and s are strictly coordinated, with F nonempty valued, then the couple (W, V_{n+1}) would be strictly admissible and F and s are strictly coordinated then the couple (W, V_{n+1}) would be strictly admissible and F and s are strictly coordinated then the couple (W, V_{n+1}) would be strictly admissible and F and s are strictly coordinated then the couple (W, V_{n+1}) would be strictly admissible as well. Let us note that the couple (X, Y) is admissible because Dom (F) is dense in X (and strictly admissible if Dom (F) = X). Therefore, the lemma can be proved also for n = 0 provided we put $W_0 = X$, $U_0 = V_0 = Y$.

Proof of Theorem 4.3: Let $W_0 = X$, $U_0 = V_0 = Y$ and set $\gamma_0 := \{X\}$. Apply the lemma for n = 0. As a result we get the maximal system of triples $\Gamma(W_0)$ satisfying (i)-(iv). Put $\Gamma_1 := \Gamma_(W_0)$, $\gamma_1 := \gamma(W_0)$ and $H_1 := H(W_0)$. Observe that γ_1 is a disjoint system of open sets in X whose union H_1 is dense in X. Therefore, for every $W_1 \in \gamma_1$ there exists a uniquely determined triple $(W_1, U_1, V_1) \in \Gamma_1$. Applying the lemma for this triple we get a system of triples $\Gamma(W_1)$ satisfying (i)-(iv). Put $\Gamma_2 := \cup \{\Gamma(W_1) : W_1 \in \gamma_1\}, \gamma_2 := \cup \{\gamma(W_1) : W_1 \in \gamma_1\}$ and $H_2 := \cup \{H(W_1) :$ $W_1 \in \gamma_1\}$. As above, one sees that γ_2 is a disjoint system of open sets in X which is inscribed in γ_1 and whose union is (open and) dense in X.

Continuing in this manner we construct a sequence of families $\{\Gamma_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of triples and a sequence of disjoint families $\{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ of open sets in X, with $\gamma_0 = \{X\}$, such that for every $n \geq 1$ we have:

(a) Γ_n is a union of the families $\Gamma(W_{n-1})$, $W_{n-1} \in \gamma_{n-1}$, where $\Gamma(W_{n-1})$ is obtained by lemma 4.6 from some uniquely determined partial play $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_{n-1}, V_{n-1})$; (b) γ_n is a union of the families $\gamma(W_{n-1})$ from the condition (iv) of the Lemma;

(c) the set $H_n: = \bigcup \{ W_n : W_n \in \gamma_n \}$ is open and dense in X.

Put $X_1 := \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. This is a dense and G_{δ} -subset of X. Every $x \in X_1$ uniquely determines a sequence of triples $(W_n(x), U_n(x), V_n(x))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $x_1 \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} W_n(x)$, $(W_n(x), V_n(x))$ is an admissible pair for every n and the sequence $\{U_n(x), V_n(x)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an *s*-play. Observe that, if F and s are strictly coordinated, then according to Lemma 4.6 the sequence $\{W_n(x), V_n(x)\}$ consists of strictly admissible pairs.

Since the strategy s is a complete α -winning strategy the set $\Phi(x) := \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n(x) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} V_n(x)$ is non-empty and compact. The so defined set-valued map $\Phi : X_1 \to T_s$ is also usc. Indeed, take some open $U \supset \Phi(x_0)$, where $x_0 \in X_1$. Since s is complete the sequence $\{U_n(x_0)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a base for the compact set $\Phi(x_0)$. Hence, there exists some n with $\Phi(x_0) \subset U_n(x_0) \subset U$. Now, if $x \in W_n(x_0) \cap X_1$, then we have (because of (iv) of the lemma) that $U(x) = U(x_0)$ and hence $\Phi(x) \subset U_n(x_0) \subset U$. I.e. Φ is usco.

We prove further that $\Phi(x) \cap F^*(x) \neq \emptyset$ for every $x \in X_1$ (thus we show also that $\operatorname{Dom}(F^*) \supset X_1$). Suppose that for some $x_0 \in X_1$ we have $\Phi(x_0) \cap F^*(x_0) = \emptyset$. Since the graph of F^* is closed in $X \times Y$ and $(x_0, \Phi(x_0)) \cap \operatorname{Gr}(F^*) = \emptyset$ we can find some open $U \supset \Phi(x_0)$ and an open W containing x_0 such that $(W \times U) \cap \operatorname{Gr}(F^*) = \emptyset$. Let n be such that $\Phi(x_0) \subset U_n(x_0) \subset U$. Put $W' := W_n(x_0) \cap W$. This set is non-empty (it contains x_0) and, moreover, since the couple $(W_n(x_0), V_n(x_0))$ is admissible then the couple $(W', V_n(x_0))$ is admissible too. This means that $F(W') \cap V_n \neq \emptyset$ and, therefore, $(W' \times V_n) \cap \operatorname{Gr}(F^*) \neq \emptyset$. On the other hand, $W' \times V_n \subset W \times U$. This is a contradiction.

Put now $G(x) := \Phi(x) \cap F^*(x)$, $x \in X_1$. The mapping G, which acts between X_1 and T_s , is obviously a non-empty valued selection of F^* on X_1 . As an usco mapping Φ has a closed graph. Since the mapping G is an intersection of two mappings with closed graphs, it has a closed graph too. On the other hand, as we already mentoned, every non-empty valued mapping with closed graph which is contained in an usco mapping is usco itself. Hence, G is usco.

Finally, if the strategy s is such that every s-play has a one-point target set, then obviously the mapping Φ is single-valued and continuous, and therefore, the same is true for the mapping G. Moreover, if F is non-empty valued and F and s are strictly coordinated then for any $x \in X_1$ the set $\Phi(x)$ (which is a singleton) belongs also to $\overline{F}(x)$. Indeed, suppose $\Phi(x_0) \notin \overline{F}(x_0)$ for some $x_0 \in X_1$. Then for some open set V of Y we have $\Phi(x_0) \subset V$ and $\overline{F}(x_0) \cap V = \emptyset$. Let n_0 be so that $V_{n_0}(x_0) \subset V$. But the couple $(W_{n_0}(x_0), V_{n_0}(x_0))$ is strictly admissible, which is a contradiction with $\overline{F}(x_0) \cap V = \emptyset$. Therefore, the mapping $G(x) = \Phi(x) \in \overline{F}(x), x \in X_1$ is a single-valued and convinuous selection of \overline{F} on X_1 . The proof of Theorem 4.3 is completed. **Remark 4.7** The special case when $F = f^{-1}$ for some continuous and single-valued mapping $f: Y \to X$ deserves more attention. It was essentially considered by E. Michael in [M5] (see Theorem 5.9 below). It can be shown in this case, that, in addition to the conclusion of the above theorem, the set $C: = G(X_1)$ is a G_{δ} subset of Y. Indeed, with the notations in the proof above, let $C_n: = \bigcup \{f^{-1}(W) \cap$ $V: (U, V, W) \in \Gamma_n$ for some uniquely determined $U, V\}$. The continuity of f implies that every C_n is open in Y. Since for every $x \in X_1$ we have $F(\bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} U_n(x)) =$ $f^-(\bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} U_n(x)) = \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} f^{-1}(U_n(x))$ it is easily verified that $C = \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n$.

Further, Theorem 4.5 can be proved using exactly the same scheme (starting with a lemma similar to Lemma 4.6) replacing the sets $F^{-1}V$, $V \subset Y$, by the sets $F^{\#}V$. Indeed, given $F: X \to Y$, call a couple (W, V) of open sets W of X and V of Y strongly admissible if $\operatorname{Cl}(F(W)) \subset V$. The next lemma is proved exactly in the same way as Lemma 4.6 (using also the regularity of Y).

Lemma 4.8 In the assumptions of Theorem 4.5, let $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n)$ be a partial s-play and W_n be a non-empty open subset of X such that (W_n, V_n) is a strongly admissible pair. Suppose that $\Gamma(W_n) = \{(W, U, V)\}$ is a maximal system of triples such that:

(i) U is a non-empty open subset of V_n ;

(*ii*) $V = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_n, V_n, U);$

(iii) (W, V) is a strongly admissible pair, so that $W \subset W_n$;

(iv) $\gamma(W_n) := \{W : (W, U, V) \in \Gamma(W_n)\}$ is a pairwise disjoint system of open subsets of W_n .

Then the set $H(W_n) := \bigcup \{ W : W \in \gamma(W_n) \}$ is dense in W_n .

Again the lemma is true for n = 0 if we put $W_0 = X$, $U_0 = V_0 = Y$ because the couple (X, Y) is strongly admissible.

Proof of Theorem 4.5. The proof of this theorem follows the same pattern as of Theorem 4.3 using Lemma 4.8. As above we obtain a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X so that each $x \in X_1$ uniquely determines a sequence of triples $(W_n(x), U_n(x), V_n(x))_{n=0}^{\infty}$ such that $x_0 \in \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} W_n(x)$, $(W_n(x), V_n(x))$ is a strongly admissible pair for every nand the sequence $\{U_n(x), V_n(x)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an *s*-play.

Again as above the mapping $\Phi(x) := \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n(x) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} V_n(x), x \in X_1$ is un usco mapping from X_1 to T_s . Similarly (using also that Dom (F) is dense in X) one sees that for every $x \in X_1$ is true $\Phi(x) \cap F^*(x) \neq \emptyset$. What is true in addition here is that $F^*(x) \subset \Phi(x)$ for any $x \in X_1$. Indeed, for every such x, by definition $F^*(x) \subset \operatorname{Cl}(F(W_n(x))) \subset V_n(x)$ for every n whence the desired inclusion. Since F^* is with a closed graph, the latter entails that the restriction $F^*|X_1 : X_1 \to T_s$ is usco.

Now, let the strategy s be so that for each s play the target set is a singleton. By the above, this means that we have $F^*(x) = \Phi(x)$ for every $x \in X_1$ and the latter set is a singleton. We prove that F^* is not only single-valued but also uppersemicontinuous at any $x \in X_1$ as a mapping from X into T_s . To this end let $F^*(x) = \Phi(x) \subset V$ for some open V and $x \in X_1$. There is some n so that $V_n(x) \subset V$. Let $x' \in W_n(x)$. Then (since $(W_n(x), V_n(x))$ is strongly admissible), $F^*(x') \subset$ $\operatorname{Cl}(F(W_n(x))) \subset V_n(x) \subset V$.

Finally, if the mapping F is non-empty valued one sees as in the proof of the previous theorem that $\overline{F}(x) \cap \Phi(x) \neq \emptyset$ for every $x \in X_1$. Now, using the same argument as above \overline{F} coincide with Φ at the points of X_1 (whence is single-valued at these points) and is upper semicontinous at any $x \in X_1$ as a mapping from X to T_s . The proof of the theorem is completed.

Remark 4.9 We would like to mention a variant of the above theorem related to another modification of the notion of a strategy for the player α in the game BM(X). Namely, let the strategy s for the player α in the space Y be so that for each s-play $p = \{U_i, V_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ the target space T(p) is either empty or if it is non-empty then the partial play is complete. Then, if we assume the hypothesis of Theorem 4.5 with this new type of strategy (and even without assuming the denseness of Dom (F)), its conclusion is changed to: for every $x \in X_1$ the mapping F^* (resp. \overline{F}) is either empty, or F^* (resp. \overline{F}) is usco (or upper semicontinuous and single-valued) at x. We will comme across with strategies like this in the applications. Moreover, a closed look at the proof shows that the latter result is true even without supposing the openess of the sets U_n, V_n (i.e. we may allow a very general game in which the players choose just non-empty subsets and to keep only the requirement for the strategy s to have either empty target set or a one point set for which the corresponding play is complete).

5 Sufficient conditions for the existence of residually defined selections of set-valued mappings

In this section we will give (rather general) conditions for the assumptions of Theorems 4.3, 4.5 to be fulfilled. Before that we need some more notions.

We start with a further weakening of the notion of lower semicontinuity. Let F be a set-valued map between the topological spaces X and Y. The mapping F is said to be *lower demicontinuous* at some $x_0 \in X$ if for every open V of Y with $F(x_0) \cap V \neq \emptyset$, there is some open set U of X with $x_0 \in \operatorname{Cl}(U)$ and the set $F^{-1}(V)$ is dense in U. F is lower demicontinuous in X if it is lower demicontinuous at any $x \in X$. It is straitforward to verify that F is lower demicontinuous in X if for every open V in Y the set $\operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V)$ is dense in $\operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V)$. Obviously, every lsc in X mapping $F: X \to Y$ is lower demicontinuous in X. Observe that, by Proposition 3.1 every minimal closed graph and upper quasi continuous at any x.

Call a set-valued mapping $F : X \to Y$ demi-open (as in [HeS] for single-valued maps) if for every open set U in X the set Int $\operatorname{Cl} F(U)$ is dense in $\operatorname{Cl} F(U)$. The following is elementary:

Proposition 5.1 The mapping $F : X \to Y$ is lower demicontunous in X if, and only if, the set-valued map $F^{-1}: Y \to X$ is demi-open.

Here is a situation when we have the assumptions of Theorem 4.3 fulfilled.

Proposition 5.2 Let $F: X \to Y$ be a lower demicontinuous and demi-open mapping and s be a strategy for the player α in the game BM(Y). Then F and s are coordinated. If, in addition, F is non-empty valued and F is lower quasicontinuous, then F and s are strictly coordinated

Proof: Suppose that F is lower demicontinuous and demi-open and s is a strategy for α in the game BM(Y). Let $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \cup U_n \supset V_n$ be a partial s-play, i.e. $V_i = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_i)$ for every $i = 1, 2, \dots n$. We have to prove that the set $\cup \{ \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V) : V = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_n, V_n, U) \text{ for some non-empty open } U \subset V_n \}$ is dense in $\operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V_n)$.

Let W be a non-empty open subset of X such that $W \cap \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V_n) \neq \emptyset$. Since F is demi-open and $F(W) \cap V_n \neq \emptyset$ there exists some non-empty open set $U \subset V_n \cap \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F(W)$. Let $V = s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n, U) \subset U$. Since $V \cap F(W) \neq \emptyset$ and F is lower demicontinuous in X we have that $W \cap \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V) \neq \emptyset$. Thus F and s are coordinated.

Assuming in addition that F is non-empty valued and lower quasicontinuous in X, the proof that F and s are strictly coordinated (i.e. that the set \cup {Int $F^{-1}(V)$: $V = s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n, U)$ for some non-empty open $U \subset V_n$ } is dense in the set $F^{-1}(V_n)$) follows exactly the same pattern. This completes the proof.

Now we look for conditions assuring the existence of complete winning strategies for the player α in the Banach-Mazur game. First, let us remind that the completely regular topological space Y is Čech complete if it lies as a G_{δ} -subset in its Stone-Čech compactification βX (or in any other compactification of Y). Recall also that a *cover* δ for a topological space Y is a family of subsets of Y whose union is Y. The cover is *open* if it consists of open sets. Given two covers δ and γ of X we write $\delta \subset \gamma$ when every element of δ is contained in some element of γ .

The next proposition gives sufficient conditions for a space Y to admit a complete strategy as defined above. In fact, as it will be seen by Theorems 11.1, 11.2 in the next chapter, these conditions are also necessary.

Proposition 5.3 Let Y be a completely regular topological space which contains a dense subset Y_1 which is Čech complete in the induced topology. Then Y possesses

a complete α -winning stationary strategy s in the game BM(Y) so that $T_s \subset Y_1$. If, in addition the space Y_1 is completely metrizable, then the strategy s can be taken in such a way that for every s-play $p = \{U_i, V_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ the target set T(p) is a singleton.

Proof: By a characterization of the Čech completeness [Fro1, Fro2], the space Y_1 admits a countable family $\{\delta_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of open covers of Y_1 so that if $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is a strictly increasing sequence of integers and $\{U_{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is a nested family so that $U_{n_k} \in \delta_{n_k}$ for every k, then the sequence $\{U_{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is complete in Y_1 . In fact, since Y_1 is dense in Y and Y is completely regular, we may think that each δ_n consists of open sets of Y and if $\{U_{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is a nested family as above, then the sequence $\{U_{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is complete in Y_1 .

Suppose (without loss of generality) that $\delta_1 := \{Y\}$ and for any $U \subset Y$ define $d(U) := \max\{n \ge 1 : \text{there is some } W \in \delta_n \text{ with } U \subset W\}$ (it is possible that for some $U, d(U) = \infty$). Now, let τ be the topology in Y and set $\tau_0 := \tau \setminus \{\emptyset\}$. Given a non-empty open set U of Y let us consider the family

$$\gamma_U := \begin{cases} \{W \in \tau_0 : \operatorname{Cl}(W) \subset U\} & \text{if } d(U) = \infty, \text{ and} \\ \{W \in \delta_{2d(U)} : W \subset U\} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Since Y is completely regular and the union of the sets from each δ_n is dense in Y then γ_U is a non-empty family for every $U \in \tau_0$. Fix some mapping $t : \tau_0 \to \bigcup \{\gamma_U : U \in \tau_0\}$ with the property $t(U) \in \gamma_U$ for each $U \in \tau_0$.

The so defined mapping t is a complete α -winning (stationary) strategy in the game BM(Y). Indeed, let $\{U_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ be a family of non-empty open sets of Y so that $U_{i+1} \subset t(U_i)$ for every i = 1, 2... We have two possibilities: either for some i $d(U_i) = \infty$ or the sequence $\{d(U_i)\}$ is a strictly increasing sequence of integers. In the first case we may suppose i = 1 and we see that the sequence $\{U_i\}$ lies in some compact subspace of Y of the type $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} W_n$ with $W_n \in \delta_n$ for each n. Because $\operatorname{Cl}(U_{i+1}) \subset U_i$ for every i we easily see that the sequence $\{U_i\}$ is complete. In the second case $t(U_i) \in \delta_{2d(U_i)}$ for every i and hence the sequence $\{t(U_i)\}$ (as well as $\{U_i\}$) is complete. Observe that in both cases $T_s \subset Y_1$.

If in addition Y_1 is metrizable by some complete metric ρ we may think that the subsets from δ_n have diameters (with respect to ρ) less than 1/n for every n = 1, 2... In this case the strategy t will have the required additional property. The proof of the proposition is completed.

The following theorem is an immediate corollary from Theorem 4.3 and the above proposition.

Theorem 5.4 Suppose X is a Baire space and Y is a topological space which contain a dense Čech complete subspace Y_1 . Let $F : X \to Y$ be a demi-open set-valued mapping with dense domain. Suppose that either F is lower demicontinuous mapping with closed graph, or F is lower quasicontinuous and has non-empty closed images. Then there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X and a non-empty-valued usco mapping $G: X_1 \to Y_1$ such that:

- a) $X_1 \subset \text{Dom}(F);$
- b) $G(x) \subset F(x)$ for every $x \in X_1$, i.e. G is a selection of F on X_1 .
- If, in addition, Y_1 is completely metrizable, then the selection G is single-valued.

Further, we see that if the very space Y is Čech complete (or completely metrizable), then the conclusion of the above theorem can be obtained without assuming demi-openess of the mapping.

Proposition 5.5 Let Y be Čech complete. Then there exists an α -winning strategy s in Y which is coordinated with any lower demicontinuous mapping $F : X \to Y$ and strictly coordinated with any non-empty valued lower quasicontinuous mapping $F : X \to Y$. If Y is a complete metric space, then the strategy s has the additional property that for any s-play $p = \{U_i, V_i\}$ the target set T(p) is a singleton.

Proof: Let $\{\delta_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a countable family of open covers of Y as in the proof of Proposition 5.3 which exists according to the Frolik characterization of the Čech completyeness [Fro1, Fro2]. Again as in the same proposition we may think that if Y is a complete metric space them the covers are such that for every k each element of δ_k has diameter less than 1/k. Suppose the strategy s is constructed up to the k-th step, $k \ge 0$ (if k = 0 we put $U_0 = V_0 = Y$). Let $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \supset U_k \supset V_k$ be a partial play with length k obtained by the constructed strategy s and let $U \subset V_k$. If U is such that $U \subset \delta_{k+1}$ then we define s on the k + 1 step by putting $s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_k, V_k, U) := U$. For all other open sets U contained in V_k we define the set $s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_k, V_k, U)$ to be any non-empty open subset V of U such that $V \in \delta_{k+1}$ and $\operatorname{Cl}(V) \subset U$.

It is clear that the so constructed strategy is a complete α -winning one. We show that it is coordinated with any lower demicontinuous mapping $F: X \to Y$ (resp. strictly coordinated with F if the latter is non-empty valued and lower quasicontinuous). Indeed, take some s-partial play $U_1 \supset V_1 \supset \cdots \supset U_k \supset V_k$ and some non-void open $H \subset \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V_k)$. Take some $x_0 \in H \cap F^{-1}(V_k)$ and $y_0 \in F(x_0) \cap V_k$. Since δ_{k+1} is a cover of Y there is some $U \in \delta_{k+1}$ so that $y_0 \in U$. Since F is lower demicontinuous and $H \cap F^{-1}(U) \neq \emptyset$ we have that $H \cap \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(U) \neq \emptyset$. On the other hand, $U = s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_k, V_k, U)$ and this shows that F and s are coordinated. The verification that F and s are strictly coordinated provided F is non-empty valued an lower quasicontinuous is completely similar. This completes the proof.

Having this proposition, the following theorem is again an immediate corollary from Theorem 4.3.

Theorem 5.6 Let $F: X \to Y$ be a set-valued mapping between the Baire space Xand the Čech complete space Y. Suppose that either F is lower demicontinuous with dense domain and closed graph, or F is lower demicontinuous and has non-empty closed images. Then there exists a dense and G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X and a non-emptyvalued usco mapping $G: X_1 \to Y$ such that:

a) $X_1 \subset \text{Dom}(F)$;

b) G is a selection of F on X_1 .

If Y is a complete metric space then the selection G is single-valued.

We give now some examples showing that the assumptions on F in the above theorems are essential.

Example 5.7 Let the segment X := [0,1] be endowed with the usual topology on the real line. Let further $B \subset [0,1]$ be such that both B and $X \setminus B$ are dense Baire subspaces of X (e.g. let B be a Bernstein subset of [0,1], see [En], 4.5.5 (b) and 5.5.4). Put $Y := (B \times \{0\}) \cup ((X \setminus B) \times \{1\}) \cup (X \times (0,1))$, where (0,1) is the open interval, and consider on Y the topology inherited by the product topology of $X \times X$. Let $F : X \to Y$ be defined by F(x) = (x,0) if $x \in B$ and F(x) = (x,1) if $x \in X \setminus B$. F has a closed graph because $B \times \{0\}$ and $(X \setminus B) \times \{1\}$ are closed subsets of Y. Fis obviously lower demicontinuous. But there is no dense G_{δ} -subset of X on which F possesses a continuous selection. In this example F is not coordinated with any complete α -winning strategy in Y. The reason is that F is not demi-open.

Example 5.8 Let X and B be as in the previous example. Define $F: X \to \{0, 1\}$ by F(x) = 1 if $x \in B$ and F(x) = 0 otherwise. F is lower demicontinuous (but not lower quasicontinuous) and F does not have a continuous selection on a dense G_{δ} -subset of X. Here $\operatorname{Gr}(F)$ is not closed.

We give some further consequences of Theorem 5.4. Let us start rt with a result of E. Michael [M5].

Theorem 5.9 ([M5], Theorem 7.2) Let $f: Y \to X$ be a continuous and demiopen single-valued mapping acting from the regular space Y which contain a dense Čech complete subspace into the space X such that f(Y) is dense in X. Then there exist a G_{δ} -subset C of Y and a dense G_{δ} -subset D of X such that $f|C: C \to D$ is perfect and onto.

Proof: Let $F: = f^{-1}: X \to Y$. By assumptions Dom(F) = f(Y) is dense in X. It can be seen that (e.g. [M5], Proposition 6.6) X is a Baire space. Since f is demi-open then by Proposition 5.1 F is lower demicontunous. On the other hand, the continuity of f implies that F is open and has closed graph. Therefore, by Theorem 5.4 there are a dense G_{δ} -subset D of X and an usco $G: D \to Y$ such that

 $D \subset \text{Dom}(F) = f(Y)$ and G is a selection of F. Let C := G(D). Since $F = f^{-1}$ and f is single-valued then $F(x_1) \cap F(x_2) = \emptyset$ for $x_1 \neq x_2$. Hence $G(x) = F(x) \cap C$ for every $x \in D$. This implies that $G = (f|C)^{-1}$ showing that $f|C: C \to D$ is perfect and onto. The rest follows by Remark 4.7.

Theorem 5.10 ([M5], Theorem 7.3) If the space Y in Theorem 5.9 contains a dense and completely metrizable subspace then f|C can be considered to be a home-omorphism.

Proof: As above using again Theorem 5.4.

Remark 5.11 Let us note that Theorems 7.2 and 7.3 from the paper of E. Michael [M5] contain additional information about the sets C and D (special completeness properties). This properties do not follow directly from our Theorems 5.4.

In connection with the above theorem E. Michael raised the following questions in [M5], Question 7.4: Let f be an open and continuous single-valued mapping from a Čech complete space Y onto a regular (or even metrizable) space X. Must f map some non-empty subset C of Y homeomorphically onto a dense G_{δ} -subset of X. The answer when X Čech complete but not metrizable is negative.

Example 5.12 Let τ be a cardinal which is greater or equal to the first uncountable cardinal. By a result of Pasinkov [Pas], Theorem 2, there are a compact space Y_{τ} of weight τ with dim $Y_{\tau} = 1$, and a continuous and open mapping f which maps Y_{τ} onto $[0,1]^{\tau}$ and such that dim $(f^{-1}(x)) = 0$ for every $x \in [0,1]^{\tau}$. Let us observe that if H is a non-empty G_{δ} -subset of $[0,1]^{\tau}$ then H contains a homeomorphic image of $[0,1]^{\tau}$. Suppose now that there is $C \subset Y_{\tau}, C \neq \emptyset$, such that f(C) = H, H is G_{δ} in $[0,1]^{\tau}$ and f|C is a homeomorphism. Then C contains a homeomorphic image of $[0,1]^{\tau}$, so the same does Y_{τ} . But dim $[0,1]^{\tau} = \infty$ while dim $Y_{\tau} = 1$. This is a contradiction.

Now, we show that when the range space Y is second countable the conclusion of Theorem 5.4 can be obtained under weakened assumptions on the mapping F.

Theorem 5.13 Let F be a mapping with closed graph acting from a Baire space Xinto the completely metrizable separable space Y. Let Dom(F) = X. Then there exist a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X and a single-valued continuous mapping $f: X_1 \to Y$ which is a selection of F on X_1 .

Proof: Let $\{V_n\}, n \ge 1$, be a countable base for the topology in Y. Consider the sets $H_n = \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V_n) \setminus \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F^{-1}(V_n)$. The sets H_n are closed and nowhere dense in X and consequently the set $X' := \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} X \setminus H_n$ is dense G_{δ} in X. Further, since

 $\{V_n\}, n \ge 1$ is a base in Y, it is a routine matter to check that the restriction F|X' of the mapping F on X' is lower demicontinuous. To complete the proof, apply Theorem 5.4 for the mapping $F|X': X' \to Y$.

Finally, we will give several applications of our second main selection theorem and will prove results in which a mapping $F: X \to Y$ is use (or single-valued and use) itself at the points of a residual subset of its domain. We start with a general result when the range space is metric.

A mapping $F: X \to Y$, where Y is a metric space with a metric ρ , is said to be fragmented by ρ ([HaJT], p.217) if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and every non-empty open set U in X there exists a non-empty open $U' \subset U$ such that $\rho - \text{diam}(F(U')) < \varepsilon$.

Theorem 5.14 Let $F: X \to Y$, where X is a Baire space and (Y, ρ) is a metric space, be fragmented by the metric ρ . Then there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X such that:

a) for every $x \in X_1$ either $F(x) = \emptyset$ or F is single-valued and usc at x.

b) if ρ is complete, Dom (F) is dense in X and F has a closed graph then $X_1 \subset$ Dom (F) and at the points of $X_1 F$ is single-valued and usco.

Proof: Put $U_0 = V_0 = Y$ and define the stratgey *s* as above: given a partial play $\{U_i, V_i\}_{i=0}^k, k \ge 0$, and a non-empty open $U \subset V_k$, let $V := s(U_0, V_0, \ldots, U_k, V_k, U)$ be a non-empty open subset of *Y* so that $\operatorname{Cl}(V) \subset U$ and $\operatorname{diam}(V) < 1/(k + 1)$. It is easily verified that, if *X* is a complete metric space then *s* is complete and in the general case, *s* satisfies the weaker condition from Remark 4.9. The so constructed strategy *s* and the mapping *F* are strongly coordinated because of the fragmentability of *F*. Therefore, the conclusion of the theorem follows by Theorem 4.5 and Remark 4.9.

The next applications concerns minimal mappings. First, we show the fundamental fact that for such mappings the existence of a densely defined selection in fact implies the coincidence between the mapping and its selection and even more.

Theorem 5.15 Let $F : X \to Y$ satisfy condition c) from Proposition 3.1 (i.e. Int $F^{\#}(V)$ is dense in $F^{-1}(V)$ for every open V in Y). Let F possess an usco selection $G : X_1 \to Y$ on some dense subset X_1 of X. Then F coincides with G at the points of X_1 and, moreover, F is usc at any $x \in X_1$.

Proof: Suppose that $F(x_0) \setminus G(x_0)$ for some $x_0 \in X_1$. Then (because $G(x_0)$ is compact) there are some point y_0 from this set difference and non-empty open sets V_0 and V_1 of Y with $y_0 \in V_0$, $G(x_0) \subset V_1$ and $V_0 \cap V_1 = \emptyset$. By the fact that G is ucs there is some open set U of X containing x_0 with the property $G(X_1 \cap U) \subset V_1$. On the other hand, by the property of the mapping F there is some non-empty $U_1 \subset U$ with $F(U) \subset V_0$. This is a contradiction since $U' \cap X_1 \neq \emptyset$ and G is a selection of

F in X_1 . Therefore, F(x) = G(x) for any $x \in X_1$. To finish the proof, we show that at the points of X_1 , F is use as a mapping from X into Y.

Indeed, take $x_0 \in X_1$ and let V be an open subset of Y such that $F(x_0) \subset V$. Since $F(x_0)$ is compact and Y is regular there is an open subset W of Y with $F(x_0) \subset W$ and $\operatorname{Cl}(W) \subset V$. Having in mind that F is use in X_1 (since F = G on this set) there is an open subset U of X such that $F(x) \subset W$ for every $x \in U \cap X_1$. Suppose there is a point $x_1 \in U \cap \operatorname{Dom}(F)$ such that $F(x_1) \setminus \operatorname{Cl}(W) \neq \emptyset$. Take y_0 from this latter set. Then there is an open in Y set V_0 such that $y_0 \in V_0$ and $V_0 \cap \operatorname{Cl}(W) = \emptyset$. Since F satisfies Proposition 3.1 c) we have that $\operatorname{Int} F^{\#}(V_0)$ is dense in $F^{-1}(V_0)$. Therefore, there exists a non-empty open $U' \subset U$ such that $F(U') \subset V_0$. This is a contradiction since $U' \cap X_1$ is a non-empty subset of $U \cap X_1$. The proof is completed.

Having the above fact, the following theorem is an immediate consequence from Theorem 4.3.

Theorem 5.16 Let F be a minimal upper quasicontinuous and closed graph mapping acting from a Baire space X into the regular space Y such that Dom(F) is dense in X. Suppose that F is coordinated with some complete α -winning strategy s in Y. Then there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X such that $X_1 \subset Dom(F)$, Fmaps X_1 into T_s and at the points of X_1 F is usco. If the strategy s is such that each s play has a one-point target set, then F is also single-valued at the points of X_1 .

We already mentioned that sometimes set-valued mappings that satisfy condition c) from Proposition 3.1 are called simply minimal. For such mappings, the conclusion of the above theorem can be obtained without assuming the closedness of the graph, provided the mapping is non-empty valued. Namely, we have the following theorem

Theorem 5.17 Let F be a non-empty valued set-valued mapping acting from a Baire space X into the regular space Y which satisfies condition c) from Proposition 3.1. Suppose that F is coordinated with some complete α -winning strategy s in Y. Then there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of X such that $X_1 \subset \text{Dom}(F)$, F maps X_1 into T_s and at the points of X_1 F is usco. If the strategy s is such that each s play has a one-point target set, then F is also single-valued at the points of X_1 .

Proof: Observe that if F is non-empty valued and satisfies condition c) from Proposition 3.1 then F is lower quasicontinuous. The conclusion then follows by Theorem 4.5, Proposition 5.2 and the above argument.

6 Some applications to the geometry of Banach spaces

In this and the next section we see how the results about residually defined selections of set-valued mappings can be applied to get various results in different fileds. Another applications of the selection theorems to optimization will be given in Sections 10–11.

Let $(E, \|\cdot\|)$ designate a real Banach space with norm $\|\cdot\|$. By E^* , as usual, we will denote the dual of E endowed with the standard dual norm $\|x^*\| = \sup\{|\langle x, x^*\rangle|: x \in B\}, x^* \in E^*$, where $B: = \{x \in E: \|x\| \le 1\}$ is the closed unit ball in E and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ designates the usual duality between E and E^* . The weak topology in E and weak star topology in E^* will be denoted by w and w^* respectively.

Let $f: E \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous convex function. The subdifferential ∂_f of f, is a multivalued mapping acting from E into E^* , defined by the formula:

$$\partial_f(x) \colon = \{ x^* \in E^* \colon \langle y - x, x^* \rangle \le f(y) - f(x) \text{ for every } y \in E \}, \ x \in E.$$

It easily follows by this definition that ∂_f is a monotone mapping, i.e. for every $x_1, x_2 \in E$ and for every $x_1^* \in \partial_f(x_1)$ and $x_2^* \in \partial_f(x_2)$ one has $\langle x_1 - x_2, x_1^* - x_2^* \rangle \geq 0$. The following facts are well-known and may be found in [Ph].

- i) $\partial_f : E \to E^*$ is a norm-to- w^* usco mapping with $\text{Dom}(\partial_f) = E$;
- ii) f is Gâteaux differentiable at $x_0 \in E$ iff $\partial_f(x_0)$ is a singleton;
- iii) f is Fréchet differentiable at $x_0 \in E$ iff ∂_f is single-valued and norm-to-norm usc at x_0 .

In 1933 Mazur [Ma] proved that if E is a separable Banach space, then f is Gâteaux differentiable at the points of some residual subset of E (in such a case we say that f is generically Gâteaux differentiable). We will see how the theorems from the previous paragraph can be used to show generic differentiability of convex functions in some other cases.

Let $d(\cdot, \cdot)$ be a metric in E^* . It is said that d fragments E^* ([JaRo]) if for every bounded subset A of E^* and every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists some w^* -open subset V of E^* such that $V \cap A \neq \emptyset$ and $d - \operatorname{diam}(V \cap A) < \varepsilon$. It is well-known that E^* has Radon-Nikodym Property (RNP) iff E^* is fragmented by the metric generated by the dual norm in E^* . Another important example is provided in the paper of Ribarska [Ri]: if the norm in E is Gâteaux differentiable at each $x \in E$, $x \neq 0$, then E is fragmented by some metric d.

Theorem 6.1 Let E be a Banach space with dual E^* fragmented by some metric dand $f: E \to \mathbf{R}$ be a continuous convex function. Then there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset D of E at the points of which f is Gâteaux differentiable. If the metric d is generated by the dual norm in E^* then at the points of D f is Fréchet differentiable. **Proof:** Since $\partial_f: (E, \|\cdot\|) \to (E^*, w^*)$ is used there exists some minimal used $F: (E, \|\cdot\|) \to (E^*, w^*)$ which is a selection of ∂_f . The following lemma gives us the possibility to apply Theorem 5.14.

Lemma 6.2 The mapping $F: (E, \|\cdot\|) \to (E^*, d)$ is fragmented by the metric d.

Proof of the lemma: Consider the closed unit ball B^* in E^* . Since F is normto- w^* usco the sets $F^{-1}(nB^*)$ are closed in X for every $n \ge 1$. Take an arbitrary non-empty open set U of E and positive ε . Observe that $U \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} F^{-1}(nB^*)$. By the Baire theorem $U_1 := U \cap \operatorname{Int} F^{-1}(nB^*) \neq \emptyset$ for some $n \ge 1$. Since F is minimal we get $F(U_1) \subset nB^*$ (Proposition 3.1). On the other hand, d fragments E^* , hence there exists a w^* -open set V of E^* such that $V \cap F(U_1) \neq \emptyset$ and $d - \operatorname{diam} (V \cap F(U_1)) < \varepsilon$. Again by the minimality of F (Proposition 3.1 c)) one gets a non-empty open $U' \subset$ U_1 such that $F(U') \subset V$. Therefore $d - \operatorname{diam} (F(U')) < d - \operatorname{diam} (V \cap F(U_1)) < \varepsilon$. The proof of the lemma is completed.

Now, let us go back to the proof of Theorem 6.1. By Theorem 5.14 there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset D of E at the points of which F is single-valued and norm-to-dusc. We will show also that

- i) $\partial_f(x) = F(x)$ for every $x \in D$ (i.e. F is Gâteaux differentiable at the points of D);
- ii) if the metric d is generated by the dual norm in E^* then ∂_f is single-valued and norm-to-norm u.s.c. at any $x \in D$ (this would imply that f is Fréchet differentiable at the points of D).

We prove ii). Let $x_0 \in D$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then $F(x_0) = \{x_0^*\}$ for some $x_0^* \in E^*$ and $x_0^* \in \partial_f(x_0)$. Since F is norm-to-norm use at x_0 there exists some open U of Xsuch that $x_0 \in U$ and $F(U) \subset x_0^* + \varepsilon B^*$. It suffices to show that $\partial_f(U) \subset x_0^* + \varepsilon B^*$. Suppose this is not the case and take some $x_1^* \in \partial_f(x_1) \setminus \{x_0^* + \varepsilon B^*\}$ where $x_1 \in U$. Then there exists $h \in E, \|h\| = 1$, which strongly separates x_1^* from the close convex ball $x_0^* + \varepsilon B^*$, i.e. for some $\delta > 0$ the w^* -open set H_{δ} : = $\{x^* \in E^* :$ $\langle h, x^* \rangle > \langle h, x_1^* \rangle - \delta\}$ does not intersect $x_0^* + \varepsilon B^*$.

Consider, for t > 0, the point x(t): $= x_1 + th$. By the monotonicity of ∂_f we have

$$0 \leq \langle x(t) - x_1, x^* - x_1^* \rangle = t \langle h, x^* - x_1^* \rangle \text{ for every } x^* \in \partial_f(x(t)).$$

This means that $\partial_f(x(t)) \subset H_\delta$ for every t > 0. However, when t is small enough $x(t) \in U$ and hence $F(x(t)) \subset x_0^* + \epsilon B^*$. This is a contradiction since F is a selection of ∂_f . The proof of ii) is completed. The proof of i) is simpler.

In the next theorem the Banach space E is identified with its natural embedding in its second dual E^{**} . **Theorem 6.3** Let E be a separable Banach space and $f: E^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous convex function such that the set $A: = \{x^* \in E^*: \partial_f(x^*) \cap E \neq \emptyset\}$ is residual in the norm topology in E^* . Then f is Fréchet differentiable on a dense G_{δ} -subset A'of E^* and $\partial_f(x^*) \in E$ for every $x^* \in A'$.

Proof: Consider the mapping $F: A \to E$ defined by $F(x^*): = \partial_f(x^*) \cap E$, $x^* \in A$. Evidently Dom (F) = A. On the other hand, since ∂_f has a closed graph, the mapping F has a closed graph too. Hence, by Theorem 5.13 there exist a residual subset A' of A and a continuous single-valued mapping $h: A' \to E$ which is a selection of F. Hence A' is residual in E^* . Arguments similar to the used in the proof of ii) from Theorem 6.1 show that for every $x^* \in A' \partial_f(x^*) = h(x^*)$ and ∂_f is norm-to-norm use at x^* . This means that f is Fréchet differentiable at the points of A'.

Put, further, BP: = { $x^* \in E^*$: x^* attains its maximum on the unit ball B}. According to the famous Bishop-Phelps theorem [BiPh], the set BP is dense in the norm topology in E^* .

Corollary 6.4 Let E be a separable Banach space such that the Bishop-Phelps set BP is residual in E^* . Then the norm in E^* is Fréchet differentiable at the points of some residual subset A' of E^* and for every $x^* \in A' \ \partial_{\|\cdot\|}(x^*) \in B$. In particular, for every $x^* \in A'$ the maximization problem (B, x^*) is Tikhonov well-posed.

Proof: Let B^{**} be the closed unit ball in E^{**} . It is well known that $\partial_{\|\cdot\|}(x^*) = \{x^{**} \in B^{**} : \langle x^*, x^{**} \rangle = \|x^*\|\}$ and that $\partial_{\|\cdot\|}(x^*) \cap E = \partial_{\|\cdot\|}(x^*) \cap B \neq \emptyset$ iff x^* attains its maximum on B. Therefore, $BP = \{x^* \in E^* : \partial_{\|\cdot\|}(x^*) \cap E \neq \emptyset\}$. It remains to apply the previous theorem.

Remark 6.5 As shown in [KG], Theorem 4.5, the last two statements are valid for all Banach spaces which admit an equivalent locally uniformly rotund norm.

7 Applications to best approximation theory

Let again E be a real Banach space with norm $\|\cdot\|$. Denote by S the unit sphere of E, i.e. the set $\{x \in E : \|x\| = 1\}$. Recall that the norm $\|\cdot\|$ in E is *locally* uniformly rotund if for every $x_0, x_n \in S$ such that $(1/2) \|x_0 + x_n\| \to 1$, it follows that $x_n \to x_0$. $\|\cdot\|$ is strictly convex if S does not contain line segments.

Let $A \subset E$ be a non-empty subset of E. The metric projection generated by Ais the multivalued mapping $P_A \colon E \to A$ defined by $P_A(x) \colon = \{y \in A \colon || x - y || =$ $\inf\{|| x - y' || \colon y' \in A\}\}$. In 1966 Stečkin [St] stated the conjecture that the set $\{x \in E \colon P_A(x) = \emptyset \text{ or } P_A(x) \text{ is a singleton }\}$ is residual in E provided the norm in *E* is strongly convex. Up to now there have been partial positive answers to this question (see [FaZh], [Kon1], [Kon2], [La], [St], [Za], [Zh1]).

Analogously, if A is a non-empty and bounded subset of E one can consider the *metric antiprojection* mapping $Q_A: E \to A$ defined by $Q_A(x): = \{y \in A : || x - y || = \sup\{|| x - y' || : y' \in A\}\}$. From the above point of view the metric antiprojection is investigated in [PaKa], [Zh1].

Using our selection theorems, we will prove here the original result of [St] about metric projections in a slightly stronger form containing Theorem 1.8 from [Zh1]. Before that we need the following lemma:

Lemma 7.1 Let E be with locally uniformly rotund norm and A be its non-empty closed subset. Then the mapping P_A is a minimal closed graph and upper quasicontinuous mapping.

Proof: The fact that $\operatorname{Gr}(P_A)$ is closed is verified easily having in mind that A is closed. In order to conclude, we will show that P_A satisfies condition c) from Proposition 3.1. Let $x_0 \in \operatorname{Dom}(P_A)$. We will show that for every $y \in P_A(x_0)$ the metric projection P_A is upper semicontinuous and single-valued at each point x from the interior of the line segment $[x_0, y]$. Since for every such $x P_A(x) = y$ we will easily get that P_A satisfies condition c) from Proposition 3.1.

Fix some $x \in [x_0, y]$. To prove that P_A is use at x we will show the following (stronger) property: if $x_n \to x$ and $y_n \in P(x_n)$, then $y_n \to y$.

First, we may think, without loss of generality that the left-open segment $(x_0, y]$ is non-empty. If not, then $x_0 = y \in A$ and $P_A(x_0) = y$. Take some sequence $\{x_n\}$ converging to $x_0 = y$ and let $y_n \in P_A(x_n)$. Then, because the distance function is continuous, we get

$$||y_n - y|| = ||y_n - x_0|| \le ||y_n - x_n|| + ||x_n - x_0|| = d(x_n, A) + ||x_n - x_0|| \to d(x_0, A) = 0.$$

Hence P_A is use at x_0 .

So fix an element $x \in (x_0, y]$ and take some $y' \in A$. Then obviously $||y' - x_0|| \ge ||y - x_0||$ since y is a best approximation of x_0 . But $||y - x_0|| = ||y - x|| + ||x - x_0||$, while $||y' - x_0|| \le ||y' - x|| + ||x - x_0||$. Hence, $||y' - x|| \ge ||y - x||$ showing that $y \in P_A(x)$. Observe that the above arguments show that if y' is outside the closed ball $B[x_0; ||y - x_0||]$ then it cannot be a best approximation of x since the inequality we got would be strict. Hence, if there are other best approximations of x in A they must be on the surface of the ball $B[x_0, ||y - x_0||]$. But if y' is such that $y' \neq y$, $||y' - x_0|| = ||y - x_0||$ and $y' \in P_A(x)$ then we have:

$$||y' - x_0|| = ||y - y_0|| = ||y - x|| + ||x - x_0|| = ||y' - x|| + ||x - x_0||$$

which is a contradiction with the strict convexity of the norm.

Now, let $x_n \to x$ and $y_n \in P_A(x_n)$. Again by the continuity of the distance function we get:

$$||y - x|| = d(x, A) = \lim d(x_n, A) = \lim ||y_n - x_n|| = \lim ||y_n - x||$$

the last equality being true since $x_n \to x$. Observe that the points y_n are outside the ball $B(x_0, ||y - x_0||)$ and are "tending" to the surface of the inner ball B[x, ||y - x||] which has only one common point with the bigger one-the point y. This together with local uniform rotundity of the space show that $y_n \to y$. Hence P_A is use at x.

Theorem 7.2 Let E have a locally uniformly rotund norm and A be closed (resp. closed and bounded). Then there exists a dense G_{δ} -subset E_1 of E at the points of which P_A (resp. Q_A) is use and either empty or single-valued. Moreover, if Dom (P_A) (resp. Dom (Q_A)) is dense in E then $E_1 \subset \text{Dom}(P_A)$ (resp. $E_1 \subset \text{Dom}(Q_A)$).

Proof: We prove the theorem only for metric projections. The case of antiprojections is analogous.

Let $X: = \operatorname{Cl}\operatorname{Dom}(P_A)$. The set $E \setminus X$ is open and if it is non-empty then obviously for every $x \in E \setminus X$ $P_A(x) = \emptyset$ and P_A is use at x. So consider Y: =Int $\operatorname{Cl}\operatorname{Dom}(F)$. The set $X \setminus Y$ is nowhere dense in E. Hence, if $Y = \emptyset$, we are done. On the other hand, if $Y \neq \emptyset$ and one proves that there is a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of Xsuch that P_A is single-valued and use in X at each point of X_1 , then one can easily get the conclusion of the theorem.

So, to finish, one consider P_A only in X and applies Theorem 5.16.

8 The Banach-Mazur game and optimization problems

Let X be a completely regular topological space and let us consider the family C(X) of all continuous and bounded real-valued functions in X equipped with the usual sup-norm $||f|| := \sup\{|f(x)| : x \in X\}, f \in C(X)$. Each $f \in C(X)$ determines in a natural way a minimization problem:

find $x_0 \in X$ with $f(x_0) = \inf\{f(x) : x \in X\} =: \inf(X, f)$.

We shall denote this problem by (X, f). Among the different properties of the minimization problem (X, f) the following ones are of special interest in the theory of optimization:

(a) (X, f) has a solution (existence of the solution);

- (b) the solution set for (X, f) is a singleton (uniqueness of the solution) or is a compact set of X;
- (c) the solution set has some sort of continuous dependence on the data of the problem (see bellow the precise definitions-this is called often stability of the solution set).

In general, taken together, the properties (a)-(c) for the problem (X, f) give the content of the notion "well-posed minimization problem (X, f)". More precisely, the minimization problem (X, f) is said to be *Tykhonov well-posed* if it has unique solution x_0 and $x_n \to x_0$ whenever $f(x_n) \to \inf(X, f)$. The sequences $\{x_n\} \subset X$ such that $f(x_n) \to \inf(X, f)$ are called *minimizing* for (X, f). For a continuous function f, the Tykhonov well-posedness of (X, f) simply means that every minimizing sequence is convergent. Since we are in a general topological space a question about minimizing nets may arise. It is easily seen that if the problem $(X, f), f \in C(X)$, is Tykhonov well-posed then every minimizing net (not only every minimizing sequence) converges to the unique solution of the problem. Therefore, in the case of Tykhonov well-posedness we can confine ourselves to the minimizing sequences and not to consider minimizing nets.

This is not the case with a generalized notion of this type when uniqueness of the solution is not required. The minimization problem (X, f), $f \in C(X)$, is said to be *generalized well-posed* if every minimizing net of the problem (X, f) has a convergent subnet. The generalized well-posedness of (X, f), $f \in C(X)$, implies that the solution set of the problem (X, f) (i.e. the set of minimizers of f) is nonempty and compact in X.

The well-posed problems are of special interest in Optimization both from theoretical and practical point of view. Indeed, it is seen that if the problem is (Tykhonov) well-posed then every numerical method for solving this problem which produces minimizing sequences will be successful in a sense that the produced iterative sequence will approach the (unique) minimum. On the other point of view, the well-posedness often means (see below Propositions 9.6) that the (unique) solution is stable under small perturbations of the data of the problem. I.e., we have continuous dependence of the solution on the data-this is important every time when we have to replace the original problem by a similar one which is close to it. For a comprehensive study of the these and other similar concepts of well-posedness we refer the reader to the book [DoZ].

The notion of well-posedness of a given problem $(X, f), f \in C(X)$, is also related to the differentiability properties of the sup-norm in C(X) (see e.g. [ČKR1, ČKR2]. Let us mention that the concept of Tykhonov well-posedness for a problem (X, f)is termed also as f has a *strong minimum* (see e.g. [DvGZi1, DvGZi2]). Motivated by the case of linear functionals, one says in such a case also that f *strongly exposes* its unique minimum.

In general, a particular problem (X, f) may fail to have any of the properties (a)-(c). But the question which may be raised is to measure the "topological bigness" of the set of functions from C(X) possessing some (or all) of the properties (a)-(c). The term "topological bigness" is understood (as above) in the Baire category sense. For instance, one may ask when the set $T := \{f \in C(X) : (X, f) \text{ is Tykhonov}\}$ well-posed is residual in C(X). I.e., we are interested in under what conditions (necessary and sufficient) this set contains a dense G_{δ} -subset of C(X). In other words, under what conditions almost all problems are well-posed? Similar questions for different classes of optimization problems have been a common point of interest for many authors in the last 30 years. We will see that the positive answer to the above question is closely related to the existence of residually defined selections of certain set-valued mappings. Moreover, investigating the above issue of generic wellposedness we will see that some of the sufficient conditions for the existence of the selections in Section 4 are also necessary. All this, on the other hand is intimately related to the existence of special winning strategies in the Banach-Mazur game BM(X).

Analogously, one can consider the situations when the property from (a) or (b) is generic. In other words, situations when the set $E := \{f \in C(X) : (X, f) \text{ has} a \text{ solution}\}$ or the set $U := \{f \in C(X) : (X, f) \text{ has unique solution}\}$ is residual in C(X). We will see for example that the generic existence of solutions to the problems from C(X) is a characterization of the existence of α -winning strategy in the Banach-Mazur game BM(X).

All the above generic properties are a partial case of the following more general scheme of variational principle: let $f: X \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ be an extended-real-valued lower semicontinuous function, which is *proper*. The latter means that the *effective domain* dom f of f, i.e. the set dom $f := \{x \in X : f(x) < +\infty\}$ is not empty. Equivalently, f is finite at least in one point. Let us recall that f is lower semicontinuous if its *epigraph*

$$epi f := \{(x, t) \in X \times \mathbb{R} : f(x) \le t\}$$

is closed in the product topology. In conclusion, f is lower semicontinuous and proper iff its epigraph is non-empty and closed in the product topology.

Let f be in addition bounded from below: then the notion of Tykhonov wellposedness for the minimization problem (X, f) is defined exactly as above–f has a unique minimum towards converges any minimizing sequence.

Suppose further that we are given a family of (usually at least continuous) bounded from below functions \mathcal{P} defined in X. We may think that the class \mathcal{P} is equipped with some complete metric (most often a \mathcal{P} is a Banach space lying in C(X) with a norm which is at least as stronger as the sup-norm in C(X)). The following question is of importance in many situations: does there exist a non-empty subset \mathcal{P}' of \mathcal{P} so that for any $g \in \mathcal{P}'$ the minimization problem (X, f+g) attains its minimum in X (or stronger, is Tykhonov well-posed). In other words we are seeking whether in the class \mathcal{P} there are perturbations g making the perturbed minimization problem (h + f) solvable (or well-posed). Often, the aim is to prove that the set \mathcal{P} is as big as possible in \mathcal{P} , i.e. is dense in \mathcal{P} or even more, contains a dense and G_{δ} -subset of \mathcal{P} . These are the general schemes of Ekelenad variational principle [Ek1, Ek2], Deville-Godefroy-Zizler [DvGZi1, DvGZi1] variational principle, Stegall variational principle [S1] and Borwein-Preiss [BoPr] smooth variational principles. Our generic existence (or well-posedness) described above is evidently a partial case of this scheme with $f \equiv 0$ and the class \mathcal{P} being just C(X) with the usual norm.

Such variational principles have turned out to be extremely useful in different branches of mathematics, as optimization, non-linear analysis, critical point theory, differentiability of convex functions, existence of solutions to Hamilton-Jacobi equations and many others.

9 The solution mapping in C(X)

We introduce below a mapping which will play an important role in the sequel and prove its basic properties.

Let X be a completely regular topological space and C(X) be the space of all continuous and bounded real-valued functions in X equipped with the sup-norm. In C(X) we define the solution mapping $M : C(X) \to X$ related to the minimization problems from C(X) by

$$M(f) := \{ x \in X : f(x) = \inf(X, f) \}, \quad f \in C(X).$$

Obviously M is onto. Moreover, the following facts are true for M.

Proposition 9.1 The mapping M has the following properties:

(a) Gr(M) is a closed subset of $X \times Y$;

(b) Dom(M) is dense in C(X);

(c) M is open;

(d) for every open U in X the set $IntM^{\#}(U)$ is dense in $M^{\#}(U) \cap Dom(M)$;

(e) for every two open sets W in C(X) and U in X with $W \cap M^{-1}(U) \neq \emptyset$ there is a non-empty open $W' \subset W$ such that $M(W') \subset U$.

Proof: (a) is trivial. As to (b), let $f \in C(X)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be arbitrary. Then, obviously $M(f_{\varepsilon}) \neq \emptyset$ for $f_{\varepsilon}(x) := \sup\{f(x), \inf(X, f) + \varepsilon\}$.

Further we demonstrate (c). Let W be an open subset of C(X) and $x_0 \in M(f_0)$ for some $f_0 \in W$. Take $\varepsilon > 0$ such that the ball $B(f_0, \varepsilon)$: $= \{f \in C(X) : ||f - f_0|| < \varepsilon\} \subset W$. Then each $x' \in \{x \in X : f_0(x) < \inf(X, f_0) + \varepsilon\}$ is a minimizer of some f from W, e.g. of the function $f_{0_{\varepsilon}}$ considered above. It is easy to see that (d) is a consequence of (e). So we prove (e).

Let $x_0 \in M(f_0) \cap U$ for some $f_0 \in W$. Since X is completely regular there exists a function $h_0 \in C(X)$ such that $h_0(x_0) = 0$, $h_0(X \setminus U) = 1$ and $||h_0|| = 1$. Find $\delta > 0$ such that $f_0 + \delta h_0 \in W$. Let further, $W' \subset W$ be an open set in C(X) containing $f_0 + \delta h_0$ and such that diam $(W') < \delta/3$. Take $f \in W'$. Since for $x \in X \setminus U$ one has

$$f(x) \geq (f_0 + \delta h_0)(x) - \frac{\delta}{3} = f_0(x) + \frac{2\delta}{3}$$

$$\geq f_0(x_0) + \frac{2\delta}{3} = (f_0 + \delta h_0)(x_0) + \frac{2\delta}{3}$$

$$> (f_0 + \delta h_0)(x_0) + \frac{\delta}{3} \geq f(x_0),$$

we see that $M(f) \subset U$.

The proof of the proposition is completed.

Immediate corollaries of this proposition and Proposition 3.1 and Proposition 3.2 are the following two ones:

Corollary 9.2 Let X be completely regular. Then the solution mapping $M : C(X) \rightarrow X$ is an open minimal closed graph upper quasicontinuous mapping.

Corollary 9.3 Let X be compact. Then the solution mapping $M : C(X) \to X$ is an open minimal usco.

Further we show that the continuity-like properties of M are related to the concept of well-posedness. First we investigate the relationship between the generalized well-posedness and upper semicontinuity of M. Namely, we have

Proposition 9.4 Let X be a completely regular topological space. The minimization problem $(X, f), f \in C(X)$, is generalized well-posed iff the solution mapping $M : C(X) \to X$ is usco at f.

Proof: Let (X, f) be generalized well-posed. Then, as it was mentioned, M(f) is non-empty and compact. Suppose M is not use at f. Then there is an open set V of X with $M(f) \subset V$ such that for every open U of C(X) containing f one has $M(U) \setminus V \neq \emptyset$. Let $x_U \in M(U) \setminus V$. Then $x_U \in M(f_U)$ for some $f_U \in U$. Ordering the family of all open neighborhoods U of f by inclusion we get two nets $\{f_U\} \subset C(X)$ and $\{x_U\} \subset X$ such that $f_U \to f$ and $x_U \in M(f_U)$.

Further, it is easily checked that the marginal function $\inf(X, \cdot)$ is a continuous function from C(X) into the reals \mathbb{R} . Hence $f_U(x_U) \to \inf(X, f)$. This, together with $f_U \to f$ gives $f(x_U) \to \inf(X, f)$. Hence, $\{x_U\}$ is a minimizing net for the minimization problem (X, f). But this net does not have any subnet convergent to a solution of (X, f) since $x_U \notin V$ and $M(f) \subset V$. This is a contradiction. Conversely, let M be used at $f \in C(X)$. Take a minimizing net $\{x_{\lambda}\}$ for the problem (X, f) and consider the continuous and bounded real-valued functions $f_{\lambda}(x) := \sup\{f(x), f(x_{\lambda})\}$. Since $f(x_{\lambda}) \to \inf(X, f)$ we get $f_{\lambda} \to f$ in C(X). Hence, by the upper semicontinuity of M at f for every open V in X containing M(f) we have $M(f_{\lambda}) \subset V$ for large λ , giving $x_{\lambda} \in V$ for large λ . Now, it is a routine matter to organize a subnet of $\{x_{\lambda}\}$ converging to a point from the compact set M(f). The proof is completed.

Another fact characterizing the generalized well-posedness is related with the compactification of X. Let βX as usual denote the Stone-Čech compactification of the completely regular topological space X. Given $f \in C(X)$ we will denote by e(f) the unique continuous extension of f in βX . Let \tilde{M} be the solution mapping determined by βX , i.e. the set-valued mapping between $C(\beta X)$ and βX which assigns to each function from $C(\beta X)$ its minimizers in βX . Since, in fact, $C(\beta X)$ and C(X) are congruent (which means that as Banach spaces they are the same) here (and in the sequel) we will always consider the mapping \tilde{M} to act between C(X) and βX . I.e. for $f \in C(X)$, $\tilde{M}(f) = \{x \in \beta X : e(f)(x) = \inf(X, f) = \inf(\beta X, e(f))\}$. According to Corollary 9.3 the mapping \tilde{M} is an open minimal usco. Now we have:

Proposition 9.5 Let X be a completely regular topological space and $f \in C(X)$. Then the minimization problem (X, f) is generalized well-posed iff $\tilde{M}(f) \subset X$.

Proof: Let $(X, f), f \in C(X)$, be generalized well-posed and suppose that there is a point $x \in \beta X \setminus X$ so that $e(f)(x) = \inf(\beta X, f) = \inf(X, f)$. Then there is a net $\{x_{\lambda}\} \subset X$ which converges to x. But then $f(x_{\lambda}) = e(f)(x_{\lambda}) \to e(f)(x)$ and hence $\{x_{\lambda}\}$ is minimizing net for the problem (X, f) which does not have a convergent (in X) subnet. This is a contradiction.

Conversely suppose that $\tilde{M}(f) \subset X$. Let M be the solution mapping determined by X. Since obviously $M(f) = \tilde{M}(f) \cap X$, and \tilde{M} is usco, we see easily that Mis usco at f. According to Proposition 9.4 this means that (X, f) is generalized well-posed.

Since it is clear that a problem $(X, f), f \in C(X)$, is Tykhonov well-posed iff (X, f) is generalized well-posed and has unique solution, then the following two assertions are immediate consequence from the above propositions.

Proposition 9.6 Let X be a completely regular topological space and $f \in C(X)$. The minimization problem $(X, f), f \in C(X)$, is Tykhonov well-posed iff the solution mapping $M : C(X) \to X$ is single-valued and usc at f.

Proposition 9.7 Let X be a completely regular topological space and $f \in C(X)$. Then the minimization problem (X, f) is Tykhonov well-posed iff $\tilde{M}(f)$ is a singleton lying in X.

10 Winning strategies in the Banach-Mazur game and generic existence of solutions

In this section we give a characterization of the existence of α -winning strategy in the Banach-Mazur game BM(X), where X is a completely regular topological space. Before stating it we need a simple fact concerning multivalued mappings.

Proposition 10.1 Let $F : X \to Y$ be a multivalued mapping with closed graph. Let $x_0 \in X$ and the family $\{U_\lambda : \lambda \in A\}$ be a local base for x_0 in X. Then

$$F(x_0) = F(\bigcap\{U_{\lambda} : \lambda \in A\}) = \bigcap\{F(U_{\lambda}) : \lambda \in A\} = \bigcap\{\operatorname{Cl} F(U_{\lambda}) : \lambda \in A\}$$

Proof: The next chain of equalities and inclusions is clear:

$$F(x_0) = F(\bigcap\{U_{\lambda} : \lambda \in A\}) \subset \bigcap\{F(U_{\lambda}) : \lambda \in A\} \subset \bigcap\{\operatorname{Cl} F(U_{\lambda}) : \lambda \in A\}.$$

So, take some $y \in \bigcap \{ \operatorname{Cl} F(U_{\lambda}) : \lambda \in A \}$ and suppose $y \notin F(x_0)$. Hence, $(x_0, y) \notin \operatorname{Gr}(F)$ and since F has a closed graph, there are open sets $U \subset X$ and $V \subset Y$ such that $x_0 \in U, y \in V$ and $F(U) \cap V = \emptyset$. But the family $\{U_{\lambda} : \lambda \in A\}$ is a base for x_0 in X. Therefore, there exists $\lambda_0 \in A$ with $U_{\lambda_0} \subset U$. On the other hand, $y \in \operatorname{Cl} F(U_{\lambda_0})$ which entails $V \cap F(U) \neq \emptyset$. This is a contradiction which completes the proof.

Now we are ready to prove the following characterization of weakly α -favorable spaces:

Theorem 10.2 For a completely regular topological space X the following assertions are equivalent:

(a) X is weakly α -favorable;

(b) every (demi-) open and minimal closed graph upper quasicontinuous mapping $F: Z \to X$ with dense domain acting from a complete metric space Z into X is non-empty valued at the points of a dense and G_{δ} -subset of Z;

(c) the set $E = \{f \in C(X) : (X, f) \text{ has a solution}\}$ contains a dense G_{δ} -subset of C(X).

Proof: Suppose (a) is true and let $F : Z \to X$ be a demi-open minimal closed graph upper quasicontinuous mapping from the complete metric space Z into X so that Dom (F) is dense in Z. We may suppose that F(Z) is dense in X, otherwise we may consider $F : Z \to \operatorname{Cl} F(Z)$ which is again a demi-open minimal closed graph upper quasicontinuous mapping. Observe that, because F is demi-open, for every non-empty open W of Z we have $\operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F(W) \neq \emptyset$.

Let s be a winning strategy for the player α in the game BM(X). The next lemma is modification of Lemma 4.8.

Lemma 10.3 Let F be as in Theorem 10.2, $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n)$, $n \ge 1$, be a partial play in the game BM(X) and W_n is a non-empty open subset of Z such that Int $\operatorname{Cl} F(W_n) \subset V_n$. Let $\Gamma(W_n)$ be a maximal family of triples $(U_{n+1}, V_{n+1}, W_{n+1})$ such that:

(a) U_{n+1} is a non-empty open subset of $\operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F(W_n)$;

(b) $V_{n+1} = s(U_1, V_1, \dots, U_n, V_n, U_{n+1});$

(c) W_{n+1} is a non-empty subset of Z such that diam $(W_{n+1}) < 1/(n+1)$, Cl $(W_{n+1}) \subset W_n$ and Int Cl $F(W_{n+1}) \subset V_{n+1}$;

(d) the family $\gamma(W_n)$: = { W_{n+1} : $(U_{n+1}, V_{n+1}, W_{n+1}) \in \Gamma(W_n)$ for some U_{n+1}, V_{n+1} } is disjoint;

Then the set $H(W_n)$: = $\bigcup \{ W_{n+1} : W_{n+1} \in \gamma(W_n) \}$ is dense in W_n .

Proof of the Lemma: A family satisfying (a)-(d) always exists. Take a maximal one $\Gamma(W_n)$ and suppose the conclusion of the lemma is not true. Then there exists a non-empty open subset G of Z with $G \subset W_n$ and $G \cap H(W_n) = \emptyset$. Since F is demi-open Int $\operatorname{Cl} F(G) \neq \emptyset$. Moreover, Int $\operatorname{Cl} F(G) \subset \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F(W_n) \subset V_n$. Let U_{n+1} : = Int $\operatorname{Cl} F(G)$ and $V_{n+1} := s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n, V_n, U_{n+1})$. By Proposition 3.1 (c) and the regularity of X there is a non-empty open subset W_{n+1} of Z such that $W_{n+1} \subset G$ and Int $\operatorname{Cl} F(W_{n+1}) \subset V_{n+1}$. We may think, in addition, that $\operatorname{Cl} (W_{n+1}) \subset W_n$ and diam $(W_{n+1}) < 1/(n+1)$. Now, the family $\Gamma(W_n) \bigcup \{(U_{n+1}, V_{n+1}, W_{n+1})\}$ is strictly larger than $\Gamma(W_n)$ and satisfies (a)-(d). This is a contradiction showing that the maximal $H(W_n)$ is dense in (W_n) .

Let us mention that, as usual, the above lemma is true also for n = 0 provided we put $U_0 = V_0 = X$.

Now, we get back to the proof of the theorem. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 4.3 we obtain a sequence of families $\{\Gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ of triples and a sequence of disjoint families $\{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ of open sets in Z, with $\gamma_0 = \{Z\}$, such that for every $n \geq 1$ we have:

(i) Γ_n is a union of the families $\Gamma(W_{n-1})$, $W_{n-1} \in \gamma_{n-1}$, where $\Gamma(W_{n-1})$ is obtained by the Lemma from some uniquely determined partial play $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_{n-1}, V_{n-1})$;

(ii) γ_n is a union of the families $\gamma(W_{n-1})$ from condition (d) of the Lemma;

(iii) the set H_n : = $\bigcup \{ W_n : W_n \in \gamma_n \}$ is open and dense in Z.

Let $H_0: = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. Obviously H_0 is a dense G_{δ} -subset of Z. Take $z_0 \in H_0$. By the properties above, this z_0 determines a unique sequence $\{W_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ such that for every $n \geq 1$, $W_n \in \gamma_n$, $z_0 \in W_n$, $\operatorname{Cl}(W_{n+1}) \subset W_n$ and $\operatorname{diam}(W_n) < 1/n$. Hence $\{z_0\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} W_n$ and the family $\{W_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a local base for z_0 in Z. By the properties (a)-(d) from Lemma 10.3 and conditions (i)-(iii) above it follows that there is an s-play $p = \{U_n, V_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $U_{n+1} \subset \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F(W_n) \subset V_n$ for every $n \geq 1$.

Hence, by Proposition 10.1 we have

$$F(z_0) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Int} \operatorname{Cl} F(W_n) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} V_n = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n = T(p).$$

Since s is an α - winning strategy, we see that $F(z_0) = T(p) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} V_n \neq \emptyset$. The proof of the implication (a) \Rightarrow (b) is completed.

The implication $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$ follows by the fact the solution mapping $M : C(X) \rightarrow X$ is open and minimal closed graph upper quasicontinuous mapping. So we prove $(c) \Rightarrow (a)$.

Let (c) be fulfilled and consider the solution mapping $M : C(X) \to X$. The set Dom(M) contains a dense G_{δ} -subset of C(X). Then, there exist countably many open and dense subsets $\{G_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ of C(X) such that $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} G_n \subset \text{Dom}(M)$. The sets $F_n := C(X) \setminus G_n, n \geq 1$, are closed and nowhere dense in C(X). That is $\text{Int}(F_n) = \emptyset$ for every $n \geq 1$.

We start now constructing a winning strategy for the player α in BM(X). Let U_1 be a non-empty open subset of X. Consider the set $\operatorname{Int} M^{\#}(U_1)$ which is nonempty by Proposition 9.1 (d). Since F_1 is closed and nowhere dense in C(X), the set $\operatorname{Int} M^{\#}(U_1) \setminus F_1$ is non-empty and open in C(X). Take an open ball B_1 in C(X)with radius less or equal to 1, such that $B_1 \subset \operatorname{Int} M^{\#}(U_1) \setminus F_1$. Define now the value of the strategy s at U_1 by $s(U_1)$: $= M(B_1)$. By Proposition 9.1 (c), $s(U_1)$ is a non-empty open subset of U_1 .

Further, let U_2 be an arbitrary non-empty open subset of $V_1 = s(U_1) = M(B_1)$. Since $U_2 \subset M(B_1)$ there is some $f \in B_1$ such that $M(f) \cap U_2 \neq \emptyset$. Hence, by Proposition 9.1 (e) there exists a non-empty open $W \subset B_1$ such that $M(W) \subset U_2$. As above the set $W \setminus F_2$ is a non-empty and open subset of C(X). Take an open ball B_2 with radius less or equal to 1/2 so that $Cl(B_2) \subset W \setminus F_2 \subset B_1$ and put $s(U_1, V_1, U_2) := M(B_2)$. Obviously $s(U_1, V_1, U_2)$ is a non-empty open subset of U_2 . Proceeding by induction we define the strategy s for every chain $(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_n), n \ge$ 1, such that $U_k \subset V_{k-1}$ and $V_{k-1} = s(U_1, V_1, \ldots, U_{k-1})$ for every $k, 1 \le k \le n$ (with $V_0 = X$).

Let $p = \{U_n, V_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be an s-play and $\{B_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ is the sequence of open balls in C(X) associated with $\{U_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ and $\{V_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ from the construction of s. Then for every $n \geq 1$:

- 1) $\operatorname{Cl}(B_{n+1}) \subset B_n$ and $B_n \bigcap F_n = \emptyset$;
- **2)** diam $(B_n) < 1/n;$
- **3)** $V_n = M(B_n)$

The conditions 1) and 2) above guarantee that $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$ is a one-point set in C(X), say f_0 , and $\{B_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a local base for f_0 . Moreover, 1) shows in addition that $f_0 \in C(X) \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n \subset \text{Dom}(M)$. Therefore, by 3) and Proposition 10.1 we have

$$\emptyset \neq M(f_0) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} M(B_n) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} V_n = T(p).$$

Hence s is a winning strategy for the player α in the Banach–Mazur game BM(X). This completes the proof.

11 Strengthened strategies in the Banach-Mazur game and generic well-posedness

In this section we consider stronger conditions for the player α to win in the game BM(X). As a result we obtain special kind of winning strategies for the player α which already were considered in the previous chapter. On the one hand, it turns out that the existence of such kind of strategies characterizes the generic well-posedness in the class C(X). On the other hand we will see that, those strengthened strategies are not only sufficient for the existence of residually defined selection as it was shown in Section 4 but are also necessary.

Indeed, the following two theorems characterize the generic well-posedness in the class C(X). Simultaneously they characterize also the existence of residually defined selections for (demi-)open lower demicointinuous and minimal pseudo usc mappings.

Theorem 11.1 Let X be a completely regular topological space. The following assertions are equivalent:

(a) the space X is almost Cech complete;

(b) the player α has a complete (stationary) winning strategy in the game BM(X);

(c) every demi-open lower demicontinuous mapping $F : Z \to X$ with closed graph (and dense domain), acting from a Baire space Z into X possesses an usco selection $G : Z_1 \to X$ where Z_1 is a dense G_{δ} -subset of Z with $Z_1 \subset \text{Dom}(F)$;

(d) every (demi-)open minimal closed graph upper quasicontinuous mapping $F : Z \to X$, acting from a Baire space Z into X is use (hence, also non-empty valued) at the points of a dense G_{δ} -subset Z_1 of Z;

(e) the set GT: = { $f \in C(X)$: (X, f) is generalized well-posed } contains a dense G_{δ} -subset of C(X).

Theorem 11.2 Let X be a completely regular topological space. The following assertions are equivalent:

(a) the space X contains a dense completely metrizable subspace;

(b) the player α has a complete (stationary) winning strategy s in the game BM(X) such that for every s-play $p = \{U_n, V_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ the target set T(p) is a singleton;

(c) every demi-open lower demicontinuous mapping $F : Z \to X$ with closed graph (and dense domain), acting from a Baire space Z into X possesses a singlevalued and continuous selection $g : Z_1 \to X$ where Z_1 is a dense G_{δ} -subset of Z with $Z_1 \subset \text{Dom}(F)$;

(d) every (demi-)open minimal closed graph upper quasicontinuous mapping $F : Z \to X$, acting from a Baire space Z into X is single-valued and usc at the points of a dense G_{δ} -subset Z_1 of Z;

(e) the set $T: = \{f \in C(X): (X, f) \text{ is Tykhonov well-posed} \}$ contains a dense and G_{δ} -subset of C(X).

We will first give the proof of the second theorem. The proof of the previous one is similar.

Proof of Theorem 11.2: (a) \Rightarrow (b) is Proposition 5.3, while (b) \Rightarrow (c) is Theorem 5.4. (c) \Rightarrow (d) follows by Theorem 5.15 Finally, (d) \Rightarrow (e) is a consequence of Proposition 9.1 and Proposition 9.6. So it remains to prove (e) \Rightarrow (a).

Suppose that T contains a dense G_{δ} -subset T_1 of C(X). Consider the Čech-Stone compactification βX of X and let \tilde{M} be the corresponding solution mapping between C(X) and βX , i.e. given $f \in C(X)$, $\tilde{M}(f)$ are the minimizers of the (unique) continuous extension e(f) of f in βX . Consider further the mapping $\tilde{M}^{-1}: \beta X \to C(X)$. It is lsc (since by Proposition 9.1 M is open) and has closed graph, again by the same proposition. Moreover, since \tilde{M} is minimal, then it is lower demicontinuous and thus (Proposition 5.1 \tilde{M}^{-1} is demi-open. Hence, by Theorem 5.4 there exist a dense G_{δ} -subset X_1 of βX and a continuous single-valued mapping $h: X_1 \to T_1$ which is a selection of \tilde{M}^{-1} on X_1 . Obviously X_1 is Čech complete. Take $x \in X_1$. Then $h(x) \in T_1$ and hence $h(x) \in T$. Therefore $\tilde{M}(h(x)) \subset X$, showing that $x \in X$. Hence $X_1 \subset X$. On the other hand, since h is a selection of M^{-1} mapping X_1 into T_1 and M is usco and single-valued on T, it is seen that h is a homeomorphism between X_1 and $h(X_1) \subset T_1$. To finish, let us recall that every metrizable Čech complete space is completely metrizable.

Proof of Theorem 11.1:

 $(a)\Rightarrow(b)$ is Proposition 5.3, $(b)\Rightarrow(c)$ is Theorem 5.4, $(c)\Rightarrow(d)$ follows by Theorem 5.15. As above, $(d)\Rightarrow(e)$ is a consequence of Proposition 9.1 and Proposition 9.4. To prove $(e)\Rightarrow(a)$ one proceeds as above (the proof of the same implication) and obtain a dense subset X_1 of X which turns out to be Čech complete.

Remark 11.3 Since for any $x \in \beta X$, $\tilde{M}^{-1}(x)$ is a convex closed subset of C(X)and \tilde{M}^{-1} is lsc in βX , the classical Michael selection theorem [M1] always gives a single-valued selection of $\tilde{M}^{-1}: \beta X \to C(X)$ which is defined on βX . The values of this selection, however, are not obliged to lie in T or GT. **Final Remark:** The material in these notes is based on the content of the following papers from the references below: [ČKR1, ČKR2, ČKR3, ČKR4, ČKR5, ČKR6, KMoR1, KMoR2, KR1, KR2, KR3, KR4, R1, R2, R3].

References

- [AL] J.M. Aarts and D. Lutzer, Completeness properties designed for recognizing Baire spaces, *Dissertationes Math.* **116**(1974), 1–48.
- [As] E. Asplund, Fréchet differentiability of convex functions, *Acta Math.* **121**(1968), 31–47.
- [AsRo] E. Asplund and R.T. Rockafellar, Gradients of Convex functions, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **139**(1969), 443–467.
- [B] R. Baire, Sur les fonctions des variables réelles, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 3(1899), 1–122.
- [BaGr] R. G. Bartle and L. M. Graves, Mappings between function spaces, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 72 (1952) 400-413.
- [BiPh] E. Bishop and R.R. Phelps, A proof that every Banach space is subreflexive, *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* **67**(1961), 97–98.
- [Bo] J.M. Borwein, Minimal cuscos and subgradients of Lipschitz functions, in *Fixed Point Theory and its Applications*, Pitman Research Notes **252**, (1991), pp.57-81.
- [BoPr] J.M. Borwein and D. Preiss, A smooth variational principle with applications to subdifferentiability and differentiability of convex functions, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **303**(1987), 517–527.
- [BuLuL] D. Burke, D. Lutzer and S. Levi, Functional characterization of certain *p*-spaces, *Topology and its Appl.* **20**(1985), 161–165.
- [CČN] J. Chaber, M.M. Čoban and K. Nagami, On monotonic generalizations of Moore spaces, Čech-complete spaces and p-spaces, Fund. Math. 84(1974), 107–119.
- [Ch1] G. Choquet, Convergences, Annales de l'Université de Grenoble 23(1947), 57–111.
- [Ch2] G. Choquet, Lectures on Analysis, Vol. 1, Benjamin, New York and Amsterdam, 1969.

- [Chr] J.P.R. Christensen, Theorems of I.Namioka and R.E.Jonson type for upper semi-continuous and compact-valued set-valued maps, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 86(1982), 649–655.
- [ChrK] J.P.R. Christensen and P.S. Kenderov, Dense strong continuity of mappings and the Radon-Nikodym property, *Math. Scand.* 54(1984), 70–78.
- [ČK1] M.M. Čoban and P.S. Kenderov, Dense Gâteaux differentiability of the sup-norm in C(T) and the topological properties of T, Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci. **38**(1985), 1603–1604.
- [ČK2] M.M. Čoban and P.S. Kenderov, Generic Gâteaux differentiability of convex functionals in C(T) and the topological properties of T, in *Mathematics and Education in Mathematics*, Proc. of the **XV**-th Spring Conf. of the Union of Bulg. Mathematicians, 1986, pp. 141–149.
- [ČKR1] M.M. Čoban, P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Generic well-posedness of optimization problems in topological spaces, *Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci.* 42(1989), 11–14.
- [ČKR2] M.M. Čoban, P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Generic well-posedness of optimization problems in topological spaces, *Mathematika* **36**(1989), 301–324.
- [ČKR3] M.M. Čoban, P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Continuous selections of multivalued mappings, *Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci.* 44(5) (1991), 9–12.
- [ČKR4] M.M. Čoban, P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Densely defined selections of multivalued mappings, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **344**(1994), 533–552.
- [ČKR5] M.M. Čoban, P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Characterizations of topological spaces with almost completeness properties, in *Séminaire d'Initiation à l'Analyse* (G. Choquet, G. Godefroy, M. Rogaslki and J. Saint Raymond (eds.)), 33emme année, **114**(1993/1994), Expose No.13 (15 pages).
- [ČKR6] M.M. Čoban, P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Topological spaces related to the Banach-Mazur game and the generic properties of optimization problems, *Set-valued Analysis* **3**(1995), 263–279.
- [DBMy] F.S. De Blasi and J. Myjak, Some generic properties in convex and nonconvex optimization theory, Ann. Soc. Math. Polon. Ser. I, Comment. Math. Prace Mat. 24(1984), 1–14.

- [DBMyP] F.S. De Blasi, J. Myjak and P. Papini, Porous sets in best approximation theory, J. London Math. Soc. 44(1991), 135–142.
- [De] G. Debs, Strategies gagnantes dans certains jeux topologiques, *Fund. Math.* **126**(1985), 93–105.
- [DeSRa] G. Debs and J. Saint Raymond, Topological games and optimization problems, *Mathematika* **41**(1994), 117–132.
- [DvGZi1] R. Deville, G. Godefroy and V. Zizler, A smooth variational principle with applications to Hamilton–Jacobi equations in infinite dimensions, *J. Functional Analysis* **111** (1993), 197–212.
- [DvGZi2] R. Deville, G. Godefroy and V. Zizler, Smoothness and renormings in Banach spaces, Pitman monographs and Surveys in Pure and Appl. Math., Longman Scientific & Technical, 1993.
- [DoZ] A. Dontchev, T. Zolezzi, Well-posed optimization problems, Lect. Notes in Math. # 1543, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1993.
- [DrLa] L. Drewnowski and I. Labuda, On minimal convex usco and maximal monotone maps, *Real Anal. Exchange* **15**(1989-90), 729–741.
- [DK] F. Deutsch and P.S. Kenderov, Continuous selections and approximate selection for set-valued mappings and applications to metric projections, *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* **14**(1983), 185-194.
- [Ek1] I. Ekeland, On the variational principle, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 47(1974), 324–353.
- [Ek2] I.Ekeland, Nonconvex minimization problems, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., Vol. 1(1979), 443–474.
- [En] R. Engelking, General Topology, PWN, Warsaw, 1977.
- [ELi] J. Ewert and T. Lipski, Quasi-continuous multivalued mappings, *Math. Slovaca* **33**(1983), 69–74.
- $\begin{array}{ll} [FaZh] & \mbox{M. Fabian and N.V. Zhivkov, A characterization of Asplund spaces with the help of local <math>\varepsilon$ -supports of Ekeland and Lebourg, Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci. **38**(1985), 671–674. \end{array}
- [Fe] R.E. Feiock, Cluster sets and joint continuity, J. London Math. Soc. 2(1973),7, 397–406.

- [F] M.K. Fort Jr., Points of continuity of semi-continuous functions, Publ. Math. Debrecen 2 (1951), 100–102.
- [Fro1] Z. Frolík, Generalizations of the G_{δ} -property of complete metric spaces, *Czech. Math. J.* **10**(1960), 359–379.
- [Fro2] Z. Frolík, Baire spaces and some generalizations of complete metric spaces, *Czech. Math. J.* **11**(1961), 237–247.
- [GaTel] F. Galvin and R. Telgárski, Stationary strategies in topological spaces, *Topology Appl.* **22**(1986), 51–69.
- [Ge1] P.Gr. Georgiev, Almost all convex, closed and bounded subsets of a Banach space are dentable, in *Mathematics and Education in Mathematics*, Proc. 14-th Conf. of the Union of Bulg. Math., Sunny Beach, April, 1985, pp.355–361.
- [Ge2] P.Gr. Georgiev, Strong Ekeland's variational principle, Strong Drop theorem and applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **131**(1988), 1–21.
- [GBa] J.R. Giles and M.O. Bartlett, Modified continuity and a generalization of Michael's Selection Theorem, *Set-Valued Anal.* 1(1993), 365-378.
- [GKMoS] J. P. Giles, P.S.Kenderov, W.B.Moors and S.Sciffer, Generic differentiability of convex functions defined on the dual of a Banach space, *Pacific Journal of Math.* 172 (1996) 413–431.
- [GMo] J.R. Giles and W.B. Moors, A continuity property related to Kuratowski's index of non-compactness, its relevance to the drop property and its implications for differentiability, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 178(1993), 247-268.
- [Gu1] V.G. Gutev, Selection theorems under an assumption weaker than lower semi-continuity, *Topology Appl.* **50**(1993), 129–138.
- [Gu2] V.G. Gutev, Selections for quasi-l.s.c. mappings with uniformly equi- LC^n range, *Set-valued Anal.* 1(1993), 319–328.
- [Han] H. Han, Uber irreduzible Kontinua, S.-B. Akad. Wiss. Wien **130**(1921), 217–250.
- [HaJK] R.W. Hansel, J.Jayne and P.S. Kenderov, Semi-continuité inferieure d'une multiplication, *C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris* serie I (1983), 497–500.

- [HaJT] R.W. Hansell, J.E. Jayne and M. Talagrand, First class selector for weakly upper semi-continuous multivalued maps in Banach spaces, J. *Reine Angew. Math.* 361(1985), 201–220.
- [HawMc] R.C. Haworth and R.A. McCoy, Baire spaces, *Dissertationes Math.* 141 (1977), Warszawa.
- [HeS] H. Herrlich and C.E. Strecker, *H*-closed spaces and reflective subcategories, *Math. Ann.* **177**(1968), 302–309.
- [Hi] L.S. Hill, Properties of some aggregate functions, Amer. J. Math. 49(1927), 419–432.
- [Ho1] R. Holmes, A course in Optimization and Best Approximation, Springer Verlag, New York, 1972.
- [Ho2] R. Holmes, Geometric Functional Analysis and its Applications, Springer Verlag, New York, 1975.
- [JaRo] J.E Jayne and C.A. Rogers, Borel selectors for upper semi-continuous set-valued maps, *Acta Math.* **155**(1985), 41–79.
- [Kem] S. Kempisty, Sur les fonctions quasi-continues, *Fund. Math.*, **19**(1932), 184–197.
- [K1] P.S. Kenderov, Points of single-valuedness of multivalued metric projections, *Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci.* **29**(1976), 773–775.
- [K2] P.S. Kenderov, Uniqueness on a residual part of best approximations in Banach spaces, *Pliska St. Math. Bulgarica* 1(1977), 122–127.
- [K3] P.S. Kenderov, Dense strong continuity of pointwise continuous mappings, *Pacific J. Math.* **89**(1980), 111–130.
- [K4] P.S. Kenderov, Continuity-like properties of set-valued mappings, Serdica Bulg. Math. Publ. 9(1983), 149–160.
- [K5] P.S. Kenderov, Most of optimization problems have unique solution, Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci. **37**(1984), 297–299.
- [K6] P.S. Kenderov, Most of optimization problems have unique solution, in *International Series of Numerical Mathematics* Vol. 72, Birkhauser-Verlag, Basel, 1984, pp.203–216.
- [KG] P.S. Kenderov and J.R. Giles, On the structure of Banach spaces with Mazur's intersection property, *Math. Ann.* **291**(1991), 463–473.

- [KLu] P.S. Kenderov and R. Lucchetti, Generic well-posedness of SupInf problems, Preprint 1994.
- [KMoR1] P.S. Kenderov, W. Moors and J.P. Revalski, A generalization of a theorem of Fort, Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci. 48(4)(1995), 11–14.
- [KMoR2] P.S. Kenderov, W. Moors and J.P. Revalski, Dense continuity and selections of set-valued mappings, Serdica Math. J., 24(1998), 49–72.
- [KO] P.S. Kenderov and J. Orihuela, On a generic factorization theorem, *Mathematika* **42**(1995), 56–66.
- [KR1] P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Winning strategies in the Banach-Mazur game, *Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci.* 44, 11(1991), 13–15.
- [KR2] P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Residually defined selections of setvalued mappings, Séminaire d'Initation à l'Analyse (G.Choquet, G. Godefroy, M. Rogalski, J. Saint Raymond), 30emme année, 1990/91, n⁰, 17, 7.
- [KR3] P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, The Banach-Mazur game and generic existence of solutions to optimization problems, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 118(1993), 911–917.
- [KR4] P.S. Kenderov and J.P. Revalski, Generic well-posedness of oprimization problems and the Banach-Mazur game, in *Recent developments in well-posed variational problems*, (R. Lucchetti and J.P. Revalski, eds), Mathematics and its Applications # 331, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1995, pp. 117–136.
- [KRi] P.S. Kenderov and N.K. Ribarska, Generic uniqueness of the solution of "min-max" problems, *Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems*, Vol. **304**, Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- [Kon1] S.V. Konyagin, Approximative properties of subsets in Banach spaces, Dokl. Acad. Nauk SSSR, 239(1978), 261-264.
- [Kon2] S.V. Konyagin, Approximative properties of closed subsets in Banach spaces and characterizations of strongly convex spaces, Dokl. Acad. Nauk SSSR, 251(1980), 276-279.
- [Kr] M.R. Krom, Infinite games and special Baire space extensions, *Pacific J. Math.* **55**(1974), 483–487.

[Ku1]	K. Kuratowski, Les fonctions semi-continués dans l'espace des ensembles fermés, <i>Fund. Math.</i> 18 (1932), 148–159.
[LPh]	D.G. Larman and R.R. Phelps, Gâteaux differentiability of convex functions on Banach spaces, J. London Math. Soc. 20 (1979), 115–127.
[La]	Ka-S. Lau, Almost Chebyshev subsets in reflexive Banach spaces, <i>Indiana Univ. Math. J.</i> 27 (1978), 791–795.
[LuPa]	R. Lucchetti and F. Patrone, Sulla densità e genericità di alcuni problemi di minimo ben posti, <i>Bollettino U.M.I.</i> 15-B (1978), 225–240.
[LuR]	R. Lucchetti and J.P. Revalski (eds), Recent Developments in Well-posed Variational Problems, Mathematics and its Applications $\#331$, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrect, 1995.
[Mau]	R.D. Mauldin (ed.), The Scotish Book: Mathematics from the Scottish Café, Birhauser-Verlag, Bpston-Basel-Stuttgart, 1981.
[Ma]	S. Mazur, Über konvexe Mengen in linearen normierten Räumen, Studia Math. 4(1933), 70–84.
[M1]	E. Michael, Continuous selections I, Ann. of Math. 63(1956), 562–590.
[M2]	E. Michael, A theorem on semi-continuous set-valued functions, <i>Duke Math. J.</i> 26 (1959), 647–652.
[M3]	E. Michael, Complete spaces and tri-quotient maps, <i>Illinois J. Math.</i> 21 (1977), 716–733.
[M4]	E. Michael, A note on completely metrizable spaces, <i>Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.</i> 96 (1986), 513–522.
[M5]	E. Michael, Almost complete spaces, hypercomplete spaces and related mapping theorems, <i>Topology Appl.</i> 41 ,n.1-2,(1991), 113–130.
[Mi]	V. Mishkin, Closed mappings and the Baire category theorem, Bull. l'Acad. Polonaise Sci. Ser. Math. Astr. Phys. 23 (1975), 425–429.
[Moo]	R.L. Moore, Concerning upper semicontinuous collections of continua, <i>Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.</i> 27 (1925), 416–428.
[MySwZi]	J. Mycielski, S. Świerczkowski and A. Zieba, On infinite positional games, Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. 4(1956), 485–488.

- [N1] I. Namioka, Separate continuity and joint continuity, *Pacific J. Math.* 51(1974), 515–531.
- [N2] I. Namioka, Radon-Nikodym compact spaces and fragmentability, *Mathematika* **34**(1987), 258–281.
- [NPh] I. Namioka and R.R. Phelps, Banach spaces which are Asplund spaces, Duke Math. J. 42(1975), 735–749.
- [Ned] S. Nedev, Selection and factorization theorems for set-valued mappings, Serdica Bulg. Math. Publ. 6(1980), 291–317.
- [NedV1] S. Nedev and V. Valov, Normal selectors for normal spaces, *Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci.* **37**(1984), 843–846.
- [NedV2] S. Nedev and V. Valov, Some properties of selectors, Compt. rend. Acad. bulg. Sci. 38(1985), 1593–1596.
- [Ne1] T. Neubrunn, On quasicontinuity of multifunctions, *Math. Scovaca* **32**(1982), 147–154.
- [Ne2] T. Neubrunn, Quasi-continuity, *Real Anal. Exchange* **14**(1988-89), 259–306.
- [Ox] J. C. Oxtoby, The Banach-Mazur game and Banach Category Theorem, in *Contributions to the theory of games*, Vol. III, *Annals of Math. Studies* **39**(Princeton 1957), 159–163.
- [PaKa] B.B. Panda and O.P. Kapoor, On farthest points of sets, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **62**(1978), 345–353.
- [Pas] B.A. Pasynkov, Zero-dimensional open mappings raising the dimension, Uspehi Mat. Nauk, vol XVIII, 5(1963), 183-190 (Russian).
- [Pa1] F. Patrone, Most convex functions are nice, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim. 9(1987), 359–369.
- [Ph] R.R. Phelps, Convex Functions, Monotone Operators and Differentiability, *Lect. Notes in Math.* **#1364**, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1989.
- [PrNaPh] D. Preiss, I. Namioka and R.R. Phelps, Smooth Banch spaces, weak Asplund spaces and monotone or usco mappings, *Israel J. Math.* **72**(1990), 257–279.
- [R1] J.P. Revalski, Generic properties concerning well-posed optimization problems, *Compt. Rend. Acad. Bulg. Sci.* **38**(1985), 1431–1434.

- [R2] J.P. Revalski, Generic well-posedness in some classes of optimization problems, *Acta Univ. Carolinae Math. et Phys.* **28**(1987), 117–125.
- [R3] J.P. Revalski, Well-posedness almost everywhere in a class of constrained convex optimization problems, in *Mathematics and Education in Mathematics*, Proc. 17-th Spring Conf. of the Union of the Bulg. Mathematicians, Sunny Beach, April 1988, pp.348–353.
- [Ri] N.K. Ribarska, The dual of a Gâteaux smooth Banach space is weak star fragmentable, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* **114**(1992), 1003–1008.
- [Ro] H.P. Rosenthal, The heredity problem for weakly compactly generated Banach spaces, *Compositio Math.* **28**(1974), 83–111.
- [SRa] J. Saint Raymond, Jeux topologiques et espaces de Namioka, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 87(1983), 499–504.
- [St] S.B. Stečkin, Approximative properties of Banach spaces subsets, Rev. Roum. Math. Pures Appl. 8(1963), 5-8.
- [S1] C. Stegall, Optimization of functions on certain subsets of Banach spaces, Math. Ann. 236(1978), 171–176.
- [S2] C. Stegall, A class of topological spaces and differentiation of functions in Banach spaces, Vorlesungen aus dem Fachbereich Mathematik der Universität Essen, 1983.
- [S3] C. Stegall, Topological spaces with dense subspaces that are homeomorphic to complete metric spaces and the classification of C(K) Banach spaces, *Mathematika* **34**(1987), 101–107.
- [S4] C. Stegall, The topology of certain spaces of measures, *Topology Appl.* 41, n.1-2(1991), 73–112.
- [Tal] M.Talagrand, Espaces de Banach faiblement K analytiques, Ann.of Math. v.110 (1979), 407-438
- [Tel] R. Telgárski, Topological games: On the 50-th anniversary of the Banach-Mazur game, *Rocky Mount. J. Math.* **17**(1987), 227–276.
- [Tro] S.L. Troyanski, On locally uniformly convex and differentiable norms in certain non separable Banach spaces, *Studia Math.* **37**(1971), 173-180.
- [U] S.M. Ulam, The Scottish Book, Los Alamos, CA, 1977.

- [Wh] H. E. White, Jr., Topological spaces that are α -favorable for player with perfect information, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* **50**(1975), 477–482.
- [Za] L. Zajíček, On the points of multivaluedness of metric projections in separable Banach spaces, Comment. Math. Univ. Carol. 19(1978), 513– 523.
- [Zh1] N.V. Zhivkov, Continuity and non-multivaluedness properties of metric projections and antiprojections, Serdica Bulg. Math. Publ. 8(1982), 378– 385.
- [Zh2] N.V. Zhivkov, Generic Gâteaux differentiability of directionally differentiable mappings, *Rev. Roum. de Math. Pures et Appl.* **32**(1987), 179–188.